From THE INSTITUTE OF ENVIRONMENTAL MEDICINE Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

MOBILITY ON THE LABOUR MARKET, WORK ABILITY AND SICK LEAVE

Karin Nordström



Stockholm 2016

All previously published papers were reproduced with permission from the publisher. Published by Karolinska Institutet. Printed by E-print AB © Karin Nordström, 2016 ISBN 978-91-7676-231-8

MOBILITY ON THE LABOUR MARKET, WORK ABILITY AND SICK LEAVE

THESIS FOR DOCTORAL DEGREE (Ph.D.)

By

Karin Nordström

Principal Supervisor: PhD Gun Johansson Karolinska Institutet Institute of Environmental Medicine Division of Occupational Medicine

Co-supervisor(s): Professor Tomas Hemmingsson Karolinska Institutet Institute of Environmental Medicine Division of Occupational Medicine

Professor Kerstin Ekberg Linköping University Department of Social Science and Medicine Division of Community Medicine *Opponent:* Professor Urban Janlert Umeå University Department of Public Health and Clinical Medicine Division of Epidemiology and Global Health

Examination Board: Associate Professor Malin Josephson Uppsala University Department of Medical Sciences Division of Occupational and Environmental Medicine

Professor Magnus Sverke Stockholm University Department of Psychology Division of Work and Organizational Psychology

Associate Professor Margaretha Voss Karolinska Institutet Department of Clinical Neuroscience Division of Insurance Medicine

Till min pappa, Rune Nordström, som skulle ha gjort allt för att kunnat följa med mig på denna resa, och som var med mig i tankarna.

Och till min mamma, Birgitta Lahti-Nordström, som alltid tror på mig.

"One describes a tale best by telling the tale. You see? The way one describes a story, to oneself or to the world, is by telling the story. It is a balancing act and it is a dream. The more accurate the map, the more it resembles the territory. The most accurate map possible would be the territory, and thus would be perfectly accurate and perfectly useless. The tale is the map that is the territory. You must remember this."

Neil Gaiman, American Gods

SAMMANFATTNING

Det övergripande syftet med avhandlingen är att studera möjliga prediktorer för och effekter av rörlighet på arbetsmarknaden bland personer med nedsatt arbetsförmåga eller erfarenhet av långtidssjukskrivning. Långtidssjukskrivning sammanhänger med ökad sannolikhet för rörlighet ut från arbetsmarknaden. Byte av jobb har diskuterats som ett sätt att förlänga arbetskraftsdeltagandet när arbetsförmågan är nedsatt i relation till aktuellt arbete. De studerade tidsperioderna sträcker sig från 1994 till 2010 och samtliga studier är utförda i Sverige.

I studie I användes registerdata från Longitudinell integrationsdatabas för sjukförsäkringsoch arbetsmarknadsstudier (LISA) för att undersöka om jobbyte påverkar sannolikheten för att kvarstå på arbetsmarknaden bland personer med erfarenhet av långtidssjukskrivning. Resultaten visade att bland de med över 180 dagars sjukfrånvaro vid basåret som bytt arbetsplats till nästkommande år så ökade sannolikheten att ha ett arbete 2-4 år senare.

I studie II användes registerdata från LISA för att studera om skillnader i sjukfrånvaronivåer mellan arbetsplatser kan förklaras av en hälsoselektion till arbetsplatserna. Resultaten visade att arbetsplatser med hög sjukfrånvaronivå hade högre sannolikhet att anställa en person med hög sjukfrånvaro året innan rekryteringen jämfört med en arbetsplats med låg genomsnittlig sjukfrånvaro.

Även i studie III användes LISA-data, här för att studera om individ- och arbetsplatsfaktorer predicerar jobbyte och att inte längre ha ett arbete (exit) bland individer med erfarenhet av långtidssjukskrivning. Resultaten visade att både arbetsplats- och individfaktorer sammanhänger med jobbyte och exit.

I studie IV användes data från Stockholms läns folkhälsokohort för att undersöka om krav, kontroll, stöd och fysisk belastning samt anställningsform påverkar sannolikheten att byta jobb eller lämna arbetslivet bland personer med nedsatt arbetsförmåga. Resultaten visade att tillfälliga anställningskontrakt ökade sannolikheten för både byte och exit. Låg jobbkontroll bland kvinnor ökade sannolikheten för exit men inte för byte.

ABSTRACT

The overall aim of this thesis is to study the potential causes and effects of mobility on the labour market among individuals with reduced work ability or who experience long-term sick leave. Long-term sick leave is associated with an increased likelihood of mobility out of the labour market. Changing jobs has been discussed as a strategy to extend participation in the labour force when the work ability is reduced in relation to the current job. The studied time periods ranged from 1994 to 2010, and all studies were conducted in Sweden.

In study I, registry data from the longitudinal integration database for health insurance and labour market studies (LISA) were used to investigate whether job change affected the likelihood of remaining in the labour market among people who experienced long-term sick leave. Among the individuals with over 180 days of absence in the first year, those who changed their job during the following year had a higher likelihood of having a job 2–4 years later than individuals who remained in the same job.

In Study II, the LISA data were used to examine whether differences in the number of absences due to sickness between workplaces can be explained by the health selection of recruits. The results showed that workplaces with high average levels of sick leave were more likely to hire a person with a high rate of sick leave the year before their recruitment than workplaces with low average levels of sick leave.

In Study III, the LISA data were used to study individual and workplace factors predicting job change and exit from the labour market among individuals who experienced long-term sick leave. The results showed that both the workplace and individual characteristics predicted job change and exit.

In Study IV, data from the Stockholm Public Health Cohort were used to examine if demand, control, support and physical strain, as well as the type of employment contract, affected the probability of whether employees with a reduced work ability would change jobs or leave the labour market. The results showed that temporary employment contracts increased the likelihood of both change and exit. Low job control among women increased the likelihood of exit but not of job change.

LIST OF SCIENTIFIC PAPERS

This thesis is based on the following publications, which are indicated by roman numerals. Reprints were made with permission from the respective publishers.

- I. Nordström, K., Ekberg, K., Hemmingsson, T., Johansson, G. (2014). Sick leave and the impact of Job-to-job mobility on the future vocational situation. BMC Public Health 2014, 14:305
- II. Nordström, K., Hemmingsson, T., Ekberg, K., Johansson, G. (2015). Sickness absence in workplaces: does it reflect a healthy hire effect?
 Int J Occup Med Environ Health 2016;29(2):315–330
- III. Nordström, K., Ekberg, K., Hemmingsson, T., Johansson, G. The importance of individual and workplace characteristics for exit from the labor market and job change among long-term sick listed workers. (Manuscript).
- IV. Nordström, K., Hemmingsson, T., Ekberg, K., Alderling, M., Johansson, G. The importance of work conditions for labor market exit and job change among individuals with reduced work ability. (Manuscript).

CONTENTS

| 1 | INTRODUCTION1 | | | | | | |
|---|---|--|----|--|--|--|--|
| 2 | BACKGROUND | | | | | | |
| | 2.1 | Vocational rehabilitation | | | | | |
| | 2.2 | 2.2 Work ability | | | | | |
| | 2.3 The Swedish social insurance system | | | | | | |
| | 2.4 | Laws and regulations Mobility on the labour market | | | | | |
| | 2.5 | | | | | | |
| | 2.5.1 Definitions | | | | | | |
| | | 2.5.2 Job change in the general population | 8 | | | | |
| | | 2.5.3 Driving forces for job change | 9 | | | | |
| | | 2.5.4 Where are the long-term sick employed? | 10 | | | | |
| | | 2.5.5 Is job change a way of prolonging labour market participation | | | | | |
| | | among individuals with long-term sick leave experience? | 12 | | | | |
| | | 2.5.6 Predictors of Job change among individuals with and without po | or | | | | |
| | | health | 15 | | | | |
| | | 2.5.7 Predictors of exit from the labour market among individuals with | ı | | | | |
| | | poor health | 17 | | | | |
| 3 | AIM | | 19 | | | | |
| | 3.1 | Specific aims | 19 | | | | |
| 4 | MAT | ERIAL AND METHODS | 20 | | | | |
| | 4.1 | Data sources | 22 | | | | |
| | | 4.1.1 Studies I–III: LISA | 22 | | | | |
| | | 4.1.2 Study IV: The Stockholm Public Health Cohort | 22 | | | | |
| | 4.2 | Design and study population | | | | | |
| | 4.3 | Data | 23 | | | | |
| | | 4.3.1 Study I 4.3.2 Study II 4.3.3 Study III | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | |
| | 4.3.4 Study IV | | | | | | |
| | 4.4 | Statistical analyses | | | | | |
| | 4.5 | Ethical considerations | 31 | | | | |
| 5 | RES | JLTS | 33 | | | | |
| | 5.1 | Study I | 33 | | | | |
| | 5.2 | Study II | | | | | |
| | 5.3 | Study III | | | | | |
| | 5.4 | Study IV | | | | | |
| 6 | DISC | USSION | | | | | |
| | 6.1 | Job-to-job mobility and future labour market situation | | | | | |
| | 6.2 | Health selection as an explanation for differences in sickness absence | | | | | |
| | | between workplaces | | | | | |

| 6.3 | Individual and Workplace characteristics as predictors of Job mobility | | | | | |
|------------------|--|----|--|--|--|--|
| 6.4 | Work conditions as predictors of Job mobility | | | | | |
| 6.5 | Methodological considerations | 40 | | | | |
| | 6.5.1 Strengths | 40 | | | | |
| | 6.5.2 Limitations | 41 | | | | |
| 6.6 | Future studies | 44 | | | | |
| 6.7 | Conclusions | 43 | | | | |
| ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS | | | | | | |
| REFERENCES | | | | | | |

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

| LISA | The Longitudinal Integration Database for Health Insurance |
|------|--|
| | and Labour Market Studies |
| SSIA | The Swedish Social Insurance Agency |
| RTW | Return to Work |
| CIs | Confidence Intervals |
| OR | Odds Ratio |
| HWE | Healthy Worker Effect |

1 INTRODUCTION

The incidence of sick leave in Sweden has increased since 2010. In 2015, the average number of days on sick leave per year was 13.7 days among women, and 7.3 among men, which is an increase of 1.5 and 0.6 days from 2014, respectively. Long-term sick leave has also increased since 2010. In September 2015, 94,121 individuals in Sweden were on sick leave for 180 days or more, whereas in September 2010, 41,605 individuals were on sick leave for 180 days or more. Twice as many women than men were on long-term sick leave in 2015 (www.forsakringskassan.se).

The costs of work absence due to sickness are high for the community, employers and individuals. During 2014, the cost of reimbursement related to sick leave and disability in Sweden amounted to 125 778 000 000 SEK (13,835.6 million EUR), which corresponds to just over 3% of Sweden's GDP (1). According to a calculation from the Swedish Social Insurance Agency, the cost sustained by an employer of an employee with average monthly wage that is sick listed for 180 days is approximately 100 000 SEK (11,000 EUR; http://www.forsakringskassan.se). Further, lost competence that must be replaced may also be costly for employers. For individuals, long-term sick leave may also have a negative impact on health (2) and personal finances (3).

Long-term sick leave is associated with an increased risk of mobility out of the labour market into unemployment and disability pension (2, 4-10). In addition, being on long-term sick leave increases the risk of not returning to employment (11, 12). In a Swedish study of individuals on sick leave who were granted vocational rehabilitation, only 32% had returned to the labour market 2 years after completing rehabilitation (12). Among the individuals on long-term sick leave who do return to work, recurrent sick leave is common. In a study of workers who returned to work after sick leave due to common mental disorders, 19% experienced an additional period of sick leave during the 7-year follow up period, which was defined as the start of a new episode of sick leave after a recovery period of at least 28 days (13).

Changing to a more suitable job might be a rehabilitation strategy that enhances the chances of future labour market participation. This thesis focuses on mobility in the labour market

among individuals with reduced work ability or who experience long-term sick leave. We studied the following three areas:

- 1. The effects of job change on the future labour market situation
- 2. Where individuals who experience long-term sick leave find new employment
- 3. Predictors of job change and exit from the labour market

2 BACKGROUND

2.1 VOCATIONAL REHABILITATION

Vocational rehabilitation is defined as a set of actions that aim to retain the work ability for individuals who suffer from work incapacities and to create conditions that allow individuals to make a living from paid work (14). In the regulations regarding labour market political activity, vocational rehabilitation implies that those in need of support are offered investigative, guidance, rehabilitative or work-preparing interventions (15). Actions aimed at the individual, such as improving individual health, or aimed at the workplace, such as removing the barriers to an individual's return to work, can be taken to facilitate an individual's return to work after sick leave. Different authorities are responsible for these actions. The Swedish social insurance law (16) states that the health care provider is responsible for evaluating the needs for medical rehabilitation, such as physical therapy or occupational therapy. The employer is responsible for taking the actions needed for an efficient vocational rehabilitation, such as job training, education or reassignment within the company (16).

Actions directed at improving individual rehabilitation or capacities, such as physical therapy or education, might be effective in some cases. However, not everybody can be "cured", and accommodations at the workplace might be necessary to allow an individual to return to work.

Accommodations such as changing the workplace, work equipment, work conditions or work environment with the purpose of removing barriers to the individual's return to work, seems to be effective in facilitating a return to the same workplace after periods of sick leave (17-21). However, such accommodations are not always feasible, such as when an individual suffers from rheumatism cannot perform the physically demanding work he formerly performed at a workplace where no co-workers are available to enable the individual's job tasks to change. Despite work accommodations, cooperation problems among key stakeholders or negative reactions from supervisors or co-workers may act as barriers to an individual returning to their jobs (18, 22, 23). When returning to the present job is not feasible, a job change might be considered as a rehabilitation strategy. In a review of the sickness absence system in Great Britain, Black et al suggest that some individuals on sick leave will only return to work when they are able to change jobs and employers (24).

2.2 WORK ABILITY

Work ability is a central concept in Swedish social insurance law. This law states that individuals who have their work ability reduced by at least one-fourth because of disease qualify for sickness-related financial benefits. This law also states that social circumstances and labour market conditions should not be included when assessing work ability (25). However, in most definitions, work ability encompasses more than individual-level factors. According to Illmarinen (26), work ability primarily involves a balance between a person's resources, such as health, functional abilities, education and attitudes, and work demands such as environment, actual contents and organization of work. Therefore, as personal resources change with age, and work demands change with new technology, the balance must be continuously maintained to sustain work ability (27).

The notion that work ability encompasses more than individual factors is also posited by Nordenfeld (25), who distinguishes three factors of ability: the agent involved, the goal of the agent and the circumstances in which the agent acts. An individual (the agent) can have the ability to perform work tasks (achieve goals) under certain circumstances, but not the ability to perform them under different circumstances (28). Tengland developed Nordenfeld's theory by suggesting two definitions of work ability, one for specific jobs requiring special training/education, and one for jobs that people in general can manage after a short learning period. He defines work ability in relation to specific jobs as having occupational competence, the required health and occupational virtues required to perform reasonable work tasks in an acceptable work environment. In a more general sense, Tengland defines work ability as having the required health and occupational virtues to manage a job when the tasks are reasonable and take place in an acceptable work environment (29). In the illness flexibility model, work ability is formed by health, knowledge/skills, and work requirements. These requirements are captured by the concept of adjustment latitude, which describes the opportunities to adjust work to health. According to this model, high knowledge and skills and high opportunities to adjust work to health might preserve work ability despite poor health (17).

In a review of published definitions of work ability, Lederer et al. distinguished three dimensions of factors affecting work ability: the individual, organizational and societal dimensions (30). Factors in the individual dimension included physiological restrictions or abilities, mental health, cognitive abilities, motivation and education. Factors in the organizational dimension included physical and psychosocial work environment; job insecurity; work attributes such as sector and company size; and organizational culture such as norms and values. The societal dimension includes political and legislative context, labour market demands, the availability of work and changes in industries. It also includes demographic trends that affect work ability, such as population aging or immigration, as well as societal norms. Lederer et al concluded that the view on work ability has shifted over the years from a narrower focus on the individual's physical impairment to a more holistic and multidimensional view (30).

To summarize, there is a difference between how the regulatory system defines the concept of work ability and how theories and models have developed around that concept, where the theoretical elements largely include contextual factors, particularly the work situation.

2.3 THE SWEDISH SOCIAL INSURANCE SYSTEM

In the general health insurance system introduced in Sweden in 1955, there were three qualifying days for sick leave, and the number of days on sick pay were limited. The replacement rate was 55% of the former income that the sickness allowance was based on. The time limitation for sick leave was removed in 1963, and in 1967, two of the qualifying days were eliminated and the replacement rate was increased to 80%. In 1987, the last qualifying day was abolished. In 1992, it became mandatory for employers to pay for the first 14 days of sick leave, and in 1993, one qualifying day was reinstated (31). After 14 days, sick pay is received from the Swedish Social Insurance Agency if the individual's work ability is reduced by at least one quarter because of illness (32).

In 2008, the rehabilitation chain was installed with the aim of achieving a more active sick leave process with early rehabilitation and support actions. The rehabilitation chain sets time limits for when work will be assessed against the current job (the first 90 days), another job with the same employer (91–180 days) or the entire labour market (after 180 days). After 180 days, the sickness allowance should be reimbursed only if the employee could not perform any work that normally exists on the labour market. Exceptions from the time limits could be made if there was a strong likelihood that the employee could return to present work within 365 days, or when assessing the employee's work ability in relation to the entire labour market was considered unreasonable. The terms for disability pension were also tightened in 2008 (32). Beginning on the 1st of February 2016, the upper time limit in the rehabilitation chain was abolished, and it became possible to receive a sickness allowance, as long as the individual's work ability was reduced by at least one quarter (Swedish Social Insurance Agency).

2.4 LAWS AND REGULATIONS

A history of many sick leave absences in most cases conveys poor health and disabilities. One strategy to allow individuals with disabilities to enter working life and to prevent discrimination is through government regulations. According to Swedish anti-discrimination law, employers are prohibited from discriminating against any employee or person seeking employment because of disability. Under this law, disability is defined as lasting physical or mental limitations to a person's functionality that arise because of injury or disease that was present at birth or develops – or is expected to develop – after birth (33). The work environment law states that the employer must ensure that there are suitable and organized job accommodations and rehabilitation activities available at the workplace (34). In several European countries, companies of a certain size are required by law to have a specific percentage of people with disabilities among their employees. The percentages vary between 2 and 7% in these countries. In a majority of the countries using quota systems, there are penalties for employers who do not fulfil the quota provisions (35). In Sweden, however, incentives are provided to employers for hiring disabled individuals (35). Wage subsidies can be paid to employers who hire a person with reduced work ability due to a disability when the person is not expected to be able to obtain or retain work unless the aid is provided. Subsidies can also be given for accommodations that are needed as a part of an employee's rehabilitation (36). Few studies have focused on whether wage subsidies are effective. One

exception is a longitudinal Danish register study that showed that lowering wage subsidies decreased the recruitment of unemployed individuals who were disabled (37).

2.5 MOBILITY ON THE LABOUR MARKET

2.5.1 Definitions

Mobility on the labour market can indicate several forms of transitions. A study of labour market mobility in the Nordic countries (38) identified the following dimensions of mobility on the labour market:

A. Changes between labour market states, such as

- mobility between employment and unemployment and
- mobility between employment conditions, such as transitions in and out of temporary employment or part-time work.
- B. Changes within employment, such as a change of
 - workplace,
 - occupation/work tasks, or
 - employer.

Figure 1 illustrates the types of changes within employment (job change) and how different aspects of job change might coincide.



Change of employer

Figure 1. Variations of job change

Workplace mobility (A) describes changes of workplace but not of employer or occupation, such as a salesperson working in a shop who changes to another shop within the same commercial chain.

Intraoccupational workplace mobility (B) describes a change of workplace and employer but not occupation or work tasks.

Interoccupational workplace mobility within the company (C) describes a change of workplace and work tasks or occupation but not employer, such as a salesperson that changes to another shop within the same commercial chain and begins work as a manager.

Changed ownership (D) implies that the employer has changed but not the workplace or occupation, which indicates the workplace has changed ownership.

Changed ownership with changed work tasks (E) is similar to *D*, *changed ownership*, and indicates changed ownership with changed work tasks for the individual.

Internal mobility within the workplace (F) describes a change of work tasks or occupation but not of employer or workplace.

Total job mobility (G) describes a change of workplace, employer and work tasks or occupation.

Figure 1 describes horizontal job changes. However, job change can also be described as vertical, such as changing from a blue-collar job to a white-collar job (upward mobility) or the reverse (downward mobility) (39). These kinds of changes are not the focus of this thesis. Instead, this thesis focuses on changes in workplace. This change may or may not include a change of work tasks or employer (A, B, C and G in Fig 1). One reason for choosing a change of workplace and not a change of employer or occupation is that we believe this factor may better reflect job changes among men and women. As a result of the gender-segregated labour market in Sweden, a majority of women are employed in the public sector whereas the majority of the men are employed in the private sector. Although a public employer can provide many workplaces, which the private employer often cannot, defining job change by the employer can underestimate job changes among women. Furthermore, female-dominated occupations are often merged into large groups, which is more uncommon among male-dominated occupations (40). Therefore, choosing a change of employer or occupation as a measurement of job change may also risk underestimating job changes among women.

2.5.2 Job change in the general population

Sweden has a comparatively low degree of mobility on the labour market compared to other Nordic countries (38). In Europe in 2005, the proportions of individuals who changed jobs, defined as a change of employer, varied from 5.6% (Greece) to 22.9% (United Kingdom). In Sweden, 8.8% of the population had changed jobs in 2005 (41). Job changes between sectors and occupations are more common in a flourishing economy compared to economies in recessions where job changes are more limited and mostly occur within sectors and occupations (42, 43). Furthermore, job change in the form of a change in employer is common during periods of economic prosperity but decreases during recessions. When the economic activity increases, new companies are established that require employees, and existing companies grow and recruit, which creates new jobs (44).

In Sweden, mobility in the form of a change in the workplace has varied between 13 and 19% between 1994 and 2008 (fig. 2). Individuals with and without sick leave experience seem to change their workplace to a similar degree. Except for the period at the beginning of 2000, men with long-term sick leave experience have changed their workplace more often than women. However, during the last part of this period, the trend seems to change.



Figure 2. Mobility between workplaces in Sweden among men and women according to sick leave experience between 1994 and 2008. Based on data from LISA collected from Swedish adults aged 20-64 years

2.5.3 Driving forces for job change

Several models describe how individual and work-related factors affect job change. According to the "healthy worker effect" (HWE), health is the driving force for mobility between jobs and labour market states. HWE is a well-known phenomenon in occupational epidemiology and is considered to be a methodological problem causing a selection bias (45). Originally, this term meant that an individual must be relatively healthy to be employable and that both morbidity and mortality rates are usually lower in the workforce than in the general population (46).

However, HWE is also likely to occur within the workforce. Certain occupations and workplaces may select for healthy individuals and against unhealthy individuals. One component of the HWE is the "healthy hire effect," meaning that healthy workers are more likely to be hired than others. This implies that unhealthy individuals are less likely than healthy people to be hired in certain occupations and workplaces and/or that certain workplaces are avoided by unhealthy individuals. Another component of the HWE is the "healthy survivor effect," which implies that unhealthy employees are more prone to outselection and may be less likely to remain in certain occupations and workplaces (45-47).

Other explanations of why people change jobs focuses on job change as a result of the expectation that a new job will be an improvement over a current job, as well as personality factors such as a willingness to change. According to the push and pull model, a job change might be caused either by push factors that repel the individual from the original workplace or by pull factors that attract the individual to a new workplace (48). Originally created to describe emigration, the push and pull theory describes mobility from an area of origin to an area of destination. In both areas, there may be both positive and negative factors that attract or repel an individual. Between these two areas, there are obstacles that must be overcome. The perceptions of positive and negative factors, obstacles and personality factors (such as willingness to change) affects whether mobility (migration) occurs. The push and pull theory indicates that migration is selective. Some individuals respond primarily to plus factors at the destination area and are positively selected (48). Push factors can include dissatisfaction with working conditions and managers, whereas pull factors can include job security or the positive reputation of an organization (49).

According to the turnover model, job change is the result of an individual's job decisions (50). An employee can be expected to change jobs when the net utility of a new job exceeds the value of the net utility of the old job, as well as the expected net utility from the existing labour market (51). The predictors for turnover can be structured into employee characteristics (e.g., age and education), the nature of the current job (e.g., job security and job stress), the nature of the current organization (e.g., supervision and pay) and external conditions, such as the unemployment rate (52).

Allen and Meyer distinguish three components in organizational commitment that affects an employee's inclination to leave or remain in an organization. Affective commitment describes the employee's attachment to the organization. Continuance commitment describes the employee's recognition of the costs of leaving the organization. Normative commitment describes the sense of obligation to the organization (53). In a follow-up survey study of the associations between the three forms of commitment and internal (within the workplace/employer) and external job moves (change of employer in fig. 1), a high normative commitment was associated with low numbers of external job changes over one's career. Moreover, external movers reported lower affective and continuance commitment prior to a job change than those who remained within the organization (54).

According to Hirschman (55), a person can "exit" or "voice" when dissatisfied with a job. Exit is escaping unsatisfying conditions by leaving the job, whereas voice is choosing to speak up in an attempt to change and improve the present job conditions. The degree of loyalty to the organization affects whether an employee will stay or leave the job (55). When experiencing poor work conditions, voice could mean trying to accomplish a change in work conditions at the present job, whereas exit could imply leaving the present job and trying to find a better job or exiting the labour market.

2.5.4 Where are the long-term sick employed?

Apart from HWE, which describes a selection process driven by health, the models of driving forces for job change mainly focus on job change as a result of the individual's decision to leave the present job. The actions and attitudes of employers for retaining and recruiting employees may be crucial for employing individuals with disabilities.

A previously published review found that employers who reported positive experiences with employees with disabilities were more likely to hire individuals with disabilities in the future (56). Four out of nine studies that considered the size of the company found that large companies showed more favourable attitudes toward individuals with disabilities than small companies. Two out of five studies that included the educational level of the employer found that employers with higher education levels had a more positive approach towards individuals with disabilities than employers with lower education levels. Another three studies found no association between an employer's education and approach towards individuals with disabilities (56). A survey study that included over 3000 companies in the USA revealed that companies in the service industry were more inclined to hire individuals with disabilities than companies in the production industry. However, companies in service industries with direct contact with customers were more likely to identify customer attitudes as a challenge when hiring individuals with disabilities (57).

A number of survey studies have focused on employer attitudes towards hiring individuals with disabilities. The reported barriers for hiring individuals with disabilities were the costs of accommodations (58) (59), a lack of knowledge and experience in working with employees with disabilities (58) (59) (60) and a fear of being stuck with an employee that cannot be fired for legal reasons (58). One study reported that enabling factors for hiring individuals with disabilities included education about disabilities, having a source for expert guidance regarding accommodations, written guidelines and tax and wage subsidies (58).

Employers who successfully hired individuals with disabilities reported that they included these individuals with other employees and treated them equally, and these employers welcomed diversity and focused on job performance results and not on the disability. These employers also typically matched employees' capacity with work tasks, focusing on the most important functions and having the required knowledge for supervising a diversified labour force (61).

Companies can also differ regarding keeping people with disabilities. In a Norwegian study that examined the characteristics of companies with an "active ageing" policy and practice to avoid early retirement, smaller companies were less likely to have such a policy than larger companies. Long training periods, which are more common among companies that have employees with a high average education, were also associated with a higher likelihood of having active ageing initiatives. Companies with difficulties filling vacancies during production spikes (62) and those expecting a scarcity in labour supply for the future (63) had a high likelihood of having interventions that aimed to retain senior employees and invest in

11

employability and of having practices such as ergonomic measures, alleviating tasks of older workers and adjusting working hours. Such investments might increase the attractiveness of the organization and prevent workers from leaving for another organization. Hermansen et al found that employers in larger organizations invested more in training that actively stimulated or increased the employability of older workers. They also found that the provision of such practices was higher in organizations where older workers are perceived more positively (63).

2.5.5 Is job change a way of prolonging labour market participation among individuals with long-term sick leave experience?

Several longitudinal studies have found an association between poor health and an increased risk of exit from the labour market in the form of unemployment and disability pension (7, 8, 64-66). Some studies have indicated that job change may prolong labour market participation among people with disabilities through at least three different mechanisms. One mechanism is providing a better match between the individual's health and the content and organization of the work. Another mechanism is increased health as a result of the change, and the third mechanism is by increased job satisfaction and growth opportunities.

2.5.5.1 A better match between the individual's health and work

The opportunity to find a more suitable job that better matches an individual's ability might be of high salience for avoiding exit from the labour market among individuals with poor health. This is supported by a longitudinal study that investigated the predictors of reemployment after early retirement due to ill health. In that study, 1317 individuals were recruited from the National Health Service in Britain. At the one-year follow up, 13% of the participants had re-entered working life (working mostly part time). In the follow-up questionnaire, 30% of the participants stated that finding a more suitable job was the main reason for returning to work, whereas 9% indicated that they returned to work because their health had improved (67). The main finding of that study – that the possibility of finding a more suitable job was more important than health for re-employment – indicates that a job change could prolong labour market participation. A change might mean that it is possible for an individual, despite ill health, to retain work ability because the job is consistent with the present symptoms. However, there were no follow-up questions regarding whether the re-employed individuals were able to remain in the labour market over time.

2.5.5.2 Better health

According to the Person-environment fit model, a strain develops when the individual's needs or abilities do not match the supplies or demands of the job. Such a strain can lead to illness (68). The individual might voluntary withdraw from the organization as a reaction to this strain (voluntary employee turnover). In a longitudinal study of the relationship between strain and voluntary turnover among truck drivers, voluntary turnover was associated with a reduction in self-reported fatigue and the need for recovery after work. The reduction was greater if the new job was outside the industry (69). Reduced emotional strain, as well as less fatigue, was also found in a longitudinal, retrospective study of individuals from the Maastricht Cohort Study who had changed employers (70). Liljegren et. al (40) found similar results in a longitudinal study in which a decreased probability of burnout and better mental health were reported among civil servants who had changed jobs compared with those who stayed at the same job. An association between upward job mobility and an increased health was also found in a study that examined 2,503 working women in the U.S. (71).

2.5.5.3 Increased job satisfaction and growth opportunities

Job change also has been found to be associated with increased job satisfaction. In a longitudinal study of Norwegian employees, job satisfaction had increased more among employees that had an upward job change (both within and between employers) than among employees that had stayed in the same job. If the job change was downward, then the opposite was true (72). Swaen et al. also found an association between job change and job satisfaction in a longitudinal study of employees from the Maastricht Cohort Study in varying occupations. Individuals that subsequently changed jobs reported more conflict with supervisors, higher physical and emotional strain and lower job satisfaction compared with individuals that did not change jobs later. However, after the job change, the individual's satisfaction improved and less conflicts and strain were reported compared to before the change (70).

In a longitudinal study of job change among British managers, it was found that job change was associated with increased opportunities for personal growth at work, whereas immobility was associated with decreased opportunities. However, the type of job change was of importance; changes implying a change of employer or work tasks that involved upward or lateral status shifts had a positive effect on growth opportunities (73).

To conclude, a job change may thus lead to increased work ability, reduced strain, improved health, growth opportunities and increased job satisfaction and thereby increase the possibility of remaining employed. However, the opportunities to find a new, more suitable job might be limited among individuals with a history of long-term sick leave.

2.5.5.4 Possibilities for changing jobs

For job change to be a way of prolonging labour market participation among individuals with reduced work ability or long-term sick leave experience, employers must be willing to hire them. Long-term sick leave and unemployment have negative effects on health, but there is also a selection for health moving into and out of the labour market.

In a review, it was reported that most employers expressed a positive general view of individuals with disabilities. However, the review reported a discrepancy between what employers expressed when the global attitudes towards individuals with disabilities were assessed and how they answered more specific questions about hypothetical hiring situations. Global attitudes were in general positive, whereas employers expressed a more negative attitude when the questions were more specific. Employers also had more positive attitudes toward hiring individuals with physical disabilities than with mental disabilities (56).

In an American survey study, half as many of individuals with disabilities believed that they could get a job compared to individuals without disabilities but did not differ from others regarding their willingness to work or what kind of jobs they preferred (74). In a Swedish interview study, 16% of individuals with a reduced work ability had encountered negative attitudes from an employer on the basis of their disability, whereas. 9% reported that they did not get a job that they applied for because of, despite sufficient qualifications, due to their disability, despite sufficient qualifications, (75).

The central propositions of the segmented labour market theory is that there are identifiable segments within the labour market and that there are barriers that prohibit mobility between these segments (76). Due to the potential existence of such mobility barriers, it might be difficult for individuals with long-term sick leave experience to escape poor working

conditions if a job change is to a very similar job. Schmutte (43) followed workers in the U.S. over a ten-year period and analysed their mobility between industries and occupations. He found support for the existence of "segments" based on the industry and occupation, and he found that the mobility among these segments was limited. These mobility boundaries might be the result of an incomplete portability of skills, missing information about job opportunities, and/or institutional barriers (43).

For a job change to have a positive impact on work ability and contribute to a longer working life among individuals with a history of long-term sick leave, the new job should imply a change of work environment and the demands put on the employee. An American register and survey study showed that the proportion of individuals with disabilities varied among occupations. The disabled are underrepresented in occupations demanding knowledge in communication and management and overrepresented in entry level jobs, unqualified jobs, physical work and high-risk occupations (77).

To remain in a non-preferred employment and experience an inability to obtain another job, which is called "being locked-in", increases the risk of ill health (78). Individuals who lack the ability or the resources to change jobs are at greater risk of being locked in and thereby experiencing a further reduction in health.

2.5.6 Predictors of Job change among individuals with and without poor health

A few studies have focused on the predictors of job change in the general population (38, 70, 79-87), whereas there is a lack of studies focusing on job change among individuals with a history of long-term sick leave or with limited work ability. However, there are a few studies of re-employment after retirement/dismissal due to ill health (11, 88-90). This type of re-employment can be seen as a form of job change as these individuals leave one job due to ill health and then change to another job.

2.5.6.1 Individual predictors

In several longitudinal studies, young individuals were more likely than older individuals to change jobs without focusing on poor health or reduced work ability (38, 91, 92). Shniper suggests that older individuals have invested more in an occupation through training and experience, and they have more to lose in a career change than younger individuals (92). Consistent with studies of job change in the general population, a longitudinal study on ill-

health retirees in UK found that a young age was a predictor for re-employment (88). A young age was also found to be a predictor of finding a new job among individuals who had been dismissed for long-term sick leave in a cross-sectional study (11).

In a longitudinal study of the determinants of mobility in the populations of four Nordic welfare states, higher education was associated with an increased probability of workplace mobility in Sweden but not in Finland, Denmark or Norway. Higher education also increased the probability of an industry change in Sweden, as well as in Finland and Denmark (38). In the study involving individuals who were dismissed because of long-term sick leave discussed above, high education level was also found to be a predictor for finding a new job after long-term sick leave (11). Contrary to these studies, a study from the United States found that individuals with a high education were more likely to remain in their current occupation than individuals with low education level, which could make it easier for an individual to find a more fitting job in the beginning of their career, thereby making the individual less likely to change jobs later on (79). The difference in results between these studies might be due to the different type of mobility studied, as the former studied a change in workplace mobility and the latter a change in occupation.

In the general population of Sweden, the probability of workplace mobility was higher among natives than among non-natives (38). Individuals who are not native to a country also have a greater risk of mobility out of employment than natives (38). In a longitudinal study conducted in the U.S., downward mobility was more common among immigrants than natives (81), an association that was also found among emigrants in Spain (82).

Being married can decrease the probability of job change compared to being single, which is a finding that has been reported in several longitudinal studies that did not focus on individuals with poor health. Individuals with children are even less likely than individuals without children to change jobs (38, 79, 83). In a cross-sectional study on the predictors of re-employment after ill health retirement among teachers in Scotland, Brown et al. found that having dependents increased the probability of re-employment, regardless of whether it was the same job or a different job (89).

2.5.6.2 Workplace predictors

In the general population, public sector employees, including those in public administration, education and health care, have been shown to be less likely to change jobs than employees in the private sector (38, 80). In a report on labour market mobility in four Nordic countries, employees at large workplaces were less likely to change their workplace than individuals employed at small workplaces (38).

Temporary employment has been found to be a strong predictor for job change in the general population (38, 70). de Lange et. al. reported that reduced job satisfaction was a predictor of job change in a longitudinal study of workers in Belgium by (86). High demands and low control at work were also predictors of job change in longitudinal studies (84-86). However, high control (autonomy) was found to be a predictor of job mobility in a longitudinal study involving civil servants from the Swedish National Labour Market Administration (87). These differences in results might be explained by the fact that the latter study included only civil servants, whereas the former study included individuals from all sectors.

In conclusion, those studies investigating job change among individuals with long-term sick leave experience or poor health have focused on re-employment after leaving work due to ill health. They have been performed on a limited numbers of individuals and do not always distinguish between individuals who return to the same job and individuals who return to a different job. It is uncertain whether the predictors are the same for individuals that change jobs before entering ill-health retirement.

2.5.7 Predictors of exit from the labour market among individuals with poor health

Studies of exit from work among individuals on long-term sick leave or with poor health have focused on disability pension. Longitudinal studies have found that older age employees are more likely to receive a disability pension (88, 93, 94). Having a non-Swedish origin has also been found to be a predictor of disability pension in Sweden among individuals on long-term sick leave (94) and among young people with musculoskeletal problems (95). Previous history of long-term sick leave (93, 95), low income (101) and lower levels of education have been found to increase the risk of disability pension (96, 97). Falkstedt et al. found evidence that work conditions partly explained the association between low education and disability pension. Poor working conditions are more common among individuals with lower education levels (97).

In several longitudinal studies, high demands, low control and low support have been associated with a lower probability of returning to work and an increased probability of receiving a disability pension. Christiansen et. al compiled the results from nine Danish studies on the predictors of early retirement and concluded that low levels of control and little variety in work tasks were predictors of disability pension (98). Low levels of job control in combination with high job demands (99) and little control over working time were also risk factors for disability pension among public sector employees in Finland (100). High job demands were associated with a decreased probability of returning to work after low back injury in a retrospective longitudinal study on compensated low back injury cases in Finland (18).

Support from supervisors has been found to reduce the risk of disability pension (22, 101). Krause et al. also found that physical work conditions, such as physically demanding work, work in uncomfortable positions, noise at work, physical job strain, musculoskeletal strain and repetitive or continuous muscle strain, increased the probability of disability retirement (22).

There are several theoretical models describing the driving forces for job change. These focus mainly on individual choices among healthy employees. Empirical studies have shown that other factors, such as branch, employer commitment to support sick-listed or disabled employees, work conditions, and individual characteristics all contributed to an individual's work ability and their ability to remain on the labour market.

3 AIM

The overall aim of this thesis is to study the potential causes and effects of mobility on the labour market among individuals with reduced work ability or a history of long-term sick leave.

3.1 SPECIFIC AIMS

- To investigate whether job-to-job mobility affects the likelihood of remaining on the labour market among persons who have experienced long-term sick leave (study I).
- To study whether a healthy hire effect may contribute to the understanding of why workplaces differ in their levels of sick leave absences (study II).
- To examine the importance of individual and workplace characteristics for job change and exit among employed individuals on long-term sick leave (study III).
- To study the importance of work and employment conditions for job change and exit among employed individuals with a reduced work ability (study IV).

4 MATERIAL AND METHODS

Overview of study I-IV

An overview of the research questions, outcomes, samples, factors controlled for, analytical tools and the main findings are presented in table 1.

Table 1. Overview of study I-IV.

| | Questions | Outcome and | Sample | Factors controlled for | Analytical tool | Main findings |
|--------------|---|---|--|---|---------------------------------------|--|
| Study I | Does job-to-job mobility affects the likelihood of remaining on the labour market among persons who have experienced long-term sick leave? | Vocational situation 2-4 years after baseyear: Employment; no employment Register data | Individuals from the Swedish population that were: 20– 60 years old; Employed during base year and the following year, n=2,931,640 – 3.072.358 | Individual: age, education, marital status, children, income, previous sick leave, previous mobility, rate of sickness absence Work place: sector, branch | Logistic regression | Individuals with more than 180 days' sick leave who changed jobs were more likely to have a job later compared with those who did not change jobs. |
| Study II | Do workplace differences in terms of sickness absence levels reflect a healthy hire effect? | Previous sickness absence among recruits: 0 days;1-180 days; 181-365 days Register data | Recruits to all workplaces in Sweden with more than 5 employees in 2006, n= 747,236 | Individual: age, education, occupation Workplace: sector, educational level, average age, number of employees, gender composition | Multinomial logistic regression | Workplaces with a high average level of sickness absence were more likely than workplaces with a low level of sickness absence to hire employees with high sickness absence in the year preceding employment. |
| Study III | Are individual and workplace characteristics associated with job change and exit among employed individuals on long-term sick leave? | Mobility 2006- 2008: Same job; job change; no employment Register data | Individuals from the Swedish population that were: 20–62 years old; employed during baseyear; more than 180 days of sick leave during the baseyear, n= 58,609 | Age, marital status, children, education, previous sick leave, previous mobility, country of origin. Part- time sick leave. Average age, number of employees, sector, gender composition, educational level at the work place | Multinomial logistic regression | Both individual and workplace characteristics were associated with job change and exit among individuals who had been on long-term sick leave. |
| Study IV | Are work and employment conditions associated with job change and exit among employed individuals with reduced work ability? | Mobility 2006- 2010: Same job; job change; no employment Questionnaire, linked register data | Respondents of The Stockholm Public Health Cohort 2006 that were: Employed; 18 - 60 years old; had reduced work ability, n= 2,888 | Age, marital status, education, country of origin, sector | Multinomial logistic regression | Temporary employment predicted both exit and job change. Low job control (women) was associated with exit but not with job change. |

4.1 DATA SOURCES

4.1.1 Studies I–III: LISA

In studies I–III, the data were collected from LISA, a longitudinal database of Swedish registers of social insurance and labour market studies established by Statistics Sweden, the National Insurance Administration and the Swedish Agency for Innovation Systems (VINNOVA). LISA contains detailed information about sickness, insurance, parental insurance, unemployment security, basic economic data and key figures for companies. The database is updated annually with a 3-year delay and includes all registered residents in Sweden aged 16 years and older. The individual is the primary object, but it is possible to make connections to family, workplace and companies.

4.1.2 Study IV: The Stockholm Public Health Cohort

In study IV, the data were collected from The Stockholm Public Health Cohort of 2006, which was followed up in 2010. The Stockholm Public Health Cohort consists of randomly selected individuals over 18 years of age from the population of Stockholm County. The cohort was set up within the Stockholm County Council public health surveys of 2002, 2006 and 2010, with follow-ups for health, lifestyle and social outcomes (102). In the present study, information from postal or web-based questionnaires was sent out to participants who were recruited in 2006 and who were re-surveyed in 2010 was used. The questionnaires contained questions about health, labour market position, physical and psychosocial work environment, lifestyle, family, and demographic and socioeconomic characteristics. Additional data were derived from longitudinal administrative, health, and sociodemographic data registries.

4.2 DESIGN AND STUDY POPULATION

Study I

Study I was a longitudinal register study including individuals who were between 20 and 60 years old and who were employed during three different base years (1994, 1999 and 2004) and in each following year. The total number of women varied between 1,448,972 (1994) and 1,503,397 (2004). These numbers were comparable for men: 1,482,668 (1994) and 1,568,961 (2004). The study population was stratified into the following three categories based on the number of sick days during the base year: 0 days, 1–180 days and 181–365 days.

Study II

Study II was a register-based follow-up study including 747,236 individuals who had been recruited in 2006 from 106,650 Swedish workplaces with at least 5 employees (f = 385 369, m = 361 867). The workplaces were categorized into quartiles according to the average number of sick day absences in 2006: 0–4.9, 5–9.5, 9.6–13.3 and 13.4 or more days/year. Each participant was categorized based on their number of sick day absences in 2005 into one of the three following categories: 0 days, 1–180 days and 181–365 days.

Study III

Study III was a longitudinal register study including individuals in the Swedish population who in 2006 were 20–62 years old, employed, and had more than 180 days of sick leave during the base year, n=58,609 (f= 36,202, m=22,407).

Study IV

Study IV was a longitudinal cohort study based on survey information. Employees between 18 and 60 years of age from Stockholm were followed for a four-year period beginning in 2006, n=18,098 (f=10138, m=7959). The study population was stratified based on whether an individual had reduced work ability. At the 2010 follow up, 12,948 individuals remained, which included 1273 women and 778 men with reduced work ability in 2006.

4.3 DATA

4.3.1 Study I

Outcome

Vocational situation: The vocational situation is based on whether the individual was gainfully employed for 4 years after the base year. Individuals were classified as gainfully employed if they had worked for at least 1 hour per week in November; otherwise they were classified as non-employed. This is based on information that employers are obligated to provide to the Swedish Tax Agency.

Predictors

Job-to-job mobility: Data were collected from administrative registers at the Swedish Tax Agency. Job-to-job mobility was defined as a change in workplace during the year following the base year. A workplace is any address, dwelling unit or group of dwelling units in which some sort of economic activity is undertaken with at least one employee working at least 20 hours per week. A company can have several workplaces, but a workplace can only belong to one company. Employers in Sweden have an annual duty to report the salaries paid and the workplace identification numbers of all employees to the tax authorities. Information on workplace identity is based on salaries paid during one week in November.

Covariates

Age: Age was calculated from the birth year according to the individual's Swedish Social Security number.

Marital status and children: Information regarding marital status and the number of children was collected from national registrations conducted by the Swedish Tax Agency. In these registers, family identifications were created from the social security number of the oldest individual from a maximum of two generations who are connected to one another (married, registered partners, cohabitants with common children, parents or foster parents). Children are registered at the same property as the parents and are connected to their family identification. If the parents are divorced, the children are connected to the same family identification as the parent with whom they are nationally registered. In this study, marital status is categorized as unmarried, married/registered partner, divorcee or widow. Three categories were created based on the number of children living at home $(0, 1-2, \text{ and } \ge 3)$.

Education: Information on education was collected from the Swedish Register of Education. For each individual and each year, the highest level of education reached at any formal institute of education in Sweden is registered. Education is classified according to the Swedish Nomenclature of Education (SUN), which was adjusted to the international Standard Classification of Education (ISCED). Elementary school/pre-secondary (<9 years), secondary school (2–3 years), and university/post-secondary were the categories used.

Previous sick leave: Data on sick benefits paid by the SSIA were used as a measure of sickness absence. Individuals with no days of sickness-related absence may include those

who had been off work for up to 14 days. Sickness absence is measured in net and gross days. One gross day of absence might mean being absent 100%, 75% or 25% of the day. With net days, one day of absence means 100% of a day, two days with 50% absence or four days with 25% absence. Net days are used, which means that one day of sickness absence encompasses one day with full sickness benefit, or two days with 50% or four days with 25% benefits. Three categories were created based on the number of days on sick leave during the year prior to the base year: 0 days, 1–180 days, and 181–365 days.

Previous mobility: To identify individuals with a pattern of frequent job changes, mobility the year prior to the base year was used as a confounder. Previous job change was defined as having a workplace identity at the base year that was different from the workplace identity for the year prior to the base year (see information on workplace and job change on page 23). Previous non-employment was defined as not having a workplace identity the year prior to the base year.

Branch of employer: Information on employment branch was collected from Statistics Sweden's company register with information from the Swedish Tax Agency. Based on the activities performed, every company is assigned one or several activity codes under the Swedish Standard Industrial Classification. This classification is based on the EU's recommended standard NACE (Nomenclature statistique des activités économiques dans la Communauté européenne) (103). The two-digit (short) version was used.

Sector: Information regarding sector is connected to the company where the individual is employed. Information about companies was collected during a week in November. Therefore, if the individual has several jobs during the year, the sector of the company from which the individual received the major part of his or her salary in November was used. Data regarding sector were collected from Statistics Sweden's Business Register. Based on the legal ownership and type of activity, companies in Sweden are given sector codes. Originally, 10 sectors were identified in the register. In these studies, these categories were merged into municipal (primary municipal administration, county councils and municipally owned companies and organizations), public/state (public administration, public utility companies and government-owned companies and organizations), private (stock corporations and other non-public companies) and other (any other organization).

Income: Income refers to disposable income and is the individual's contribution to household income. Disposable income is what remains from an individual's salary and benefits from the state and local authorities after taxes and deductions. Income was used as a continuous variable.

Rate of sickness absence: The dichotomous variable part-time sick leave was determined using net and gross days on sick leave. With net days, 2 days of part-time sick leave were merged into 1 day of sick leave. With gross days, every day of sick leave was counted as a whole day, regardless of whether the individual was absent for part of the day or the entire working day. If the sum of net days was equal to the sum of gross days, then the individual was considered to have been on full-time sick leave. If they were not equal, it implied at least one day of part-time sick leave during the year.

4.3.2 Study II

Outcome

Sickness absence at the workplace: For all workplaces, the average number of days of sickness benefits paid by the SSIA per employee and year was computed by adding together the days of sickness benefits for all employees with an identical workplace identification number each year and dividing that number by the number of employees at the workplace. The average sickness absence at a workplace was divided into the following quartiles: 0–4.9, 5–9.5, 9.6–13.3, and 13.4 or more days/year. Information on sickness-related absence at the workplace level was based on data from the administrative registers obtained from the Swedish Tax Agency.

Predictors

Individual levels of sickness absence: For all employees, the days of sickness absence/year were computed and divided into three categories: 0 days of sickness absence; 1–180 days of sickness absence; and 181–365 days of sickness absence (see information on sick leave at page 24).

Covariates

Age and education: see page 24, Sector: see page 25

Average age at the workplace: Information on an employee's age was collected from national registers (see Age at page 24). The mean age of all employees with the same workplace identification was calculated. We divided the average age at the workplace into quartiles.

Number of employees at the workplace: The number of employees was used to measure the size of the workplace. The number was computed by adding up all the individuals with the same workplace identities. Based on EU standards, four categories were created: 5–9 employees, 10–49 employees, 50–249 employees, and 250 or more employees (http://ec.europa.eu/enterprise/policies/sme/files/sme_definition/sme_user_guide_en.pdf).

Educational level at the workplace: The highest educational level is recorded each year for each person registered in Sweden (see Education on page 24). The proportion with the highest educational level of post-secondary school at each workplace was computed. Based on this value, the workplaces were divided into 3 groups: High (33% or fewer of the employees had secondary school as highest education), Middle (between 34% and 66% of employees had such education), and Low (more than 66% of employees had secondary school as highest education).

Workplace gender composition: The proportion of women at each workplace was computed. The workplaces were divided into 3 groups: male-dominated (0–40% women), gender-integrated (41–60% women), and female-dominated (61–100% women).

Occupation: Each person's occupation is classified based on a Swedish version of the ISCO 88 (COM), a European classification of occupations. This European classification is based on combined knowledge of experts in occupational classification with practical considerations for coding occupational information collected by census and survey techniques. Jobs are grouped into occupations according to the degree of similarity in their constituent tasks and duties. The ISCO-88 organizes occupations in a hierarchical framework on four levels. We have used the most detailed level that contains 355 different occupational groups.

4.3.3 Study III

Outcome

Same job: Individuals with a workplace identification number in 2008 that was the same as that in 2006 were classified as having the same job.

Job change: Job change was defined as having a workplace identification number in 2008 that was different from that in 2006 (see information on workplace at page 24).

Exit from the labour market: Exit was defined as no longer having employment following long-term sick leave, regardless of whether it is due to unemployment, early retirement or any other reason. Exit was determined to have occurred when an individual did not have a workplace identity in 2008, which might imply either a temporary or a permanent exit from the labour market.

Predictors

Age, marital status and children and education: See page 24 above.Previous sick leave: See page 24 above.Previous mobility: See page 25 above.

Country of origin: Country of origin refers to the birth country of the individual. Individuals born abroad whose mothers were registered citizens of Sweden at the time of their birth were assigned Sweden as their country of birth. Country of origin was categorized into five groups: Natives, Other Nordic, Other European or North American, Other, and Unknown.

Part-time sick leave: See Rate of sickness absence on page 26 above.

Size of the workplace, Gender composition, Average age at the workplace, Educational level at the workplace: See page 27 above. Sector: See page 25 above.

4.3.4 Study IV

Outcome

Same job: Individuals who in 2010 answered "yes" to the question, "Do you have the same job and employment conditions today as in 2006?" were classified as having the same job.

Job change: Individuals who in 2010 answered "no" to the question, "Do you have the same job and employment conditions today as in 2006?" and also answered the question "What is your main activity right now?" with "employment," "temporary employment" or "self-employment" were classified as having changed jobs.

Exit from the labour market: Individuals who in 2010 answered the question "What is your main activity right now?" with a response other than "employment," "temporary employment" or "self-employment" were classified as having no employment (i.e., as having exited the labour market).

Predictors

Physical burden: The respondents were asked about the physical burden in their job during the previous 12 months. The response alternatives were as follows: "Sedentary work (you have a mainly sedentary job)"; "Easy, somewhat mobile work (you have a job in which you walk quite a lot but that does not include heavy lifting)"; "Moderately physically demanding work (you walk a lot and also lift things or use stairs)"; and "Physically demanding work (you have a physically demanding job that includes heavy lifting and substantial physical strain)". "Moderately physically demanding work" were merged into one category.

Type of employment contract: Individuals who answered the question in the 2006 survey, "What is your main activity right now?" with "Temporary employment" were classified as having temporary employment. Those who answered "Permanent employment" were classified as having permanent employment.

Support from manager: Support from the manager was measured with the question "Do you feel support from your manager when facing problems at work?" Answers were given on a four-point scale: "Yes, often/always"; "Yes, sometimes"; "No, seldom"; and "No,

never." The responses were categorized into Support ("Yes, often/always" and "Yes, sometimes") and Low/No support ("No, seldom" and "No, never").

Support from co-workers: The question "Do you feel support from your co-workers when facing problems at work" used the same response scale as the previously described and was similarly categorized into Support ("Yes, often/always" and "Yes, sometimes") and Low/No support ("No, seldom" and "No, never").

Demands: Demands were measured with two items: "Is there enough time to perform your work tasks?" and "Does your job involve contradictory demands?" Answers were given on a four-point scale: "Yes, often/always"; "Yes, sometimes"; "No, seldom"; and "No, never." If the question regarding sufficient task time was answered with "No, seldom" or "No, never enough time" and/or the question about demands was answered with "Yes, always" or "Yes, sometimes contradictory demands," the individual's demands were categorized as high. If either of the two questions were answered with either of the two response alternatives indicating high demands, the individual's demands were categorized as low.

Control: Control was measured with three items: "Do you have the opportunity to learn new things in your job," "Do you have the freedom to decide what to do," and "Do you have the freedom to decide how to do it." If any of these questions were answered with "No, seldom" or "No, never," then the individual's control was categorized as low. If none of the questions were answered with "No, seldom" or "No, never," the individual's control was categorized as low.

Covariates

Age and education: see page 24. **Sector:** see page 25, **Country of origin:** See page 28. **Marital status:** See page 24. In study IV, Marital status was categorized as Married or Unmarried (including widows and divorcees).

4.4 STATISTICAL ANALYSES

4.4.1 Study I: Logistic regression

In study I, the likelihood that individuals on long-term sick leave were later employed depending on whether they changed their workplace during the year of long-term sick leave

or the following year was analysed using logistic regression analysis. A 95% confidence interval (CI) was computed for each OR. Separate analyses were performed for men and women. Age, sector, industry, children, marital status, education, income, rate of sick leave, earlier sick leave and earlier mobility were used as confounders.

4.4.2 Studies II-IV: Multinomial logistic regression

In studies II, III and IV, the data were analysed using multinomial logistic regression, which handles nominal outcome variables with more than two levels. A 95% confidence interval (CI) was computed for each OR. Separate analyses were performed for males and females.

In study II, the odds ratio (OR) was calculated for a workplace with high average sickness absence compared with a workplace with a low sickness absence, to hiring a recruit with a history of multiple days of sickness absence.

In study III, the odds ratios for being re-employed at another workplace or having no employment versus being employed at the same workplace in 2006 as in 2008 were calculated with regard to the predictors.

In study IV, the individual characteristics and work conditions were collected in the baseline year of 2006. Information regarding employment status was collected from a follow up survey administered in 2010. The odds ratios were calculated for job changes or having no employment in 2010 versus being employed at the same job in 2006 as in 2010, depending on the work conditions (employment contract, physical burden, support, demands and control).

4.5 ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS

Ethical approval for studies I-III was obtained from the Ethics Review Board in Linköping, Dnr: 169–09. Written informed consent was not obtained, as the material on the total population is de-identified. Therefore, it was not possible to reach the participants. Thus, it was also impossible to identify any of the individuals, and the study does not imply any active participation. Ethical approval for study IV was obtained from the Ethics review board in Stockholm, Dnr: 2012/1808-31/5. Participants in The Stockholm Public Health Cohort have given their informed consent to the preservation of their national registration number (NRN), future contacts and record linkages.

5 RESULTS

5.1 STUDY I

Research question: Does job-to job mobility affect the likelihood of remaining on the labour market among persons who have experienced long-term sick leave?

Women with more than 180 days of sick leave who changed workplaces were more likely to have a job later than women who did not change jobs. For men, the association was statistically significant with 1994 and 2004 as the base years, but not in the cohort from 1999. Among individuals without or with fewer days of sick leave, the association moves in the opposite direction; individuals who changed workplace were less likely to be employed later than individuals that stayed at the same workplace.

5.2 STUDY II

Research question: Do workplace differences in terms of sickness absence levels reflect a healthy hire effect?

Workplaces with a high average level of sickness absence were more likely than workplaces with a low level of sickness absence to hire employees with high sickness absence in the year preceding employment (men (OR=7.1, 95% CI=6.5; 7.8), women (OR 8.5, 95% CI=7.8; 9.3)).

5.3 STUDY III

Research question: Are individual and workplace characteristics associated with labour market exit and job change among employed men and women on long-term sick leave?

Both individual and workplace characteristics were associated with job change and exit among individuals who had been on long-term sick leave. Some characteristics, such as previous mobility, having had full-time sick leave, and working in a workplace with few employees, were associated with both increased job change and exit. These circumstances might thus act as driving forces for leaving a present workplace among individuals who have been on long-term sick leave. Other conditions showed different associations with the types of mobility. Younger age was associated with a higher likelihood for job change, whereas older age was associated with a higher likelihood to exit.

5.4 STUDY IV

Research question: Are work conditions associated with labour market exit and job change among employed individuals with reduced work ability?

The results show that the type of employment contract has a profound impact on employment retention for people with reduced work ability. Among women, low job control is associated with exit but not with an increased likelihood to change jobs.

6 **DISCUSSION**

This thesis contributes to the knowledge on mobility in the labour market among individuals with reduced work ability or a history of long-term sick leave. The areas studied included the following:

- whether job-to-job mobility affects the likelihood of remaining on the labour market among persons who have a history of long-term sick leave,
- whether a healthy hire effect may contribute to understanding why workplaces differ in sickness absence levels, and
- the importance of individual and workplace characteristics as well as work conditions – for job change and exit among employed individuals on long-term sick leave or with reduced work ability.

The main findings from the studies are discussed below.

6.1 JOB-TO-JOB MOBILITY AND FUTURE LABOUR MARKET SITUATION

The results from study I show that, in all studied time periods, women had an increased probability of staying in employment if they had changed jobs than if they had not. Among men, this association was present in two of the three studied time periods, but in the third time period, no association was found. Among the individuals with a history of 1–180 days of sick leave and among individuals without a history of sick leave, changing jobs was associated with a decreased probability of being employed later.

There is a dearth of studies on the association between job-to-job mobility and the future employment of individuals with a history of long-term sick leave with which we can compare our results. However, job-to-job mobility has been suggested as a possible rehabilitation strategy and as a way of retaining work ability (104, 105), and it has been reported as a reason for being able to return to work after long-term sick leave (67).

Previous studies have reported an increased risk of downward mobility among individuals with poor health (106, 107), which indicates that the group that changed jobs in the present study includes a share of individuals who experienced downward mobility. According to the push and pull theory, job change might result from push factors that repel the individual from the original workplace or pull factors that attract the individual to a new workplace (48). Downward mobility is likely due to push factors that make it hard to remain employed at the old job, unless the new, less-qualified job is perceived as a better match for the individual's abilities, which might then act as a pull factor.

Individuals with temporary contract employment were reported to be more likely to change jobs (38); therefore, it is likely that a higher proportion of job changers had temporary employment rather than stable employment. Temporary employment is associated with poor health (108, 109) and future unemployment (110, 111). Considering that we continued to find an association between job change and prolonged labour market participation – and despite including downward changes and temporary employment – job changes among individuals with a history of long-term sick leave were likely driven by negative push factors out of previous work, as well as by a search for a better matching job. Thus, a job change might be a way of prolonging labour market participation.

An alternative explanation as to why job change was associated with an increased likelihood of remaining in employment might be that individuals with long-term sick leave who changed jobs may have better health than those who did not change jobs. These individuals may therefore have better preconditions for remaining in the labour market. We attempted to account for the differences in health between individuals who changed jobs and those who did not by adjusting for the number of days of sick leave during the year before base year, assuming that those with poor health had a longer history of sick leave. However, the adjustment for earlier days on sick leave did not affect the results.

The effect of job-to-job mobility on the likelihood of an individual with many days of sick leave remaining in the labour market might differ in welfare systems with different rules and different incentives for mobility. However, in this study, a similar pattern emerged over a time period of 15 years, despite variations in sick leave and unemployment levels. However, it was uncertain whether the results would have been similar if the study had been performed after 2008 when stronger incentives for job change were introduced into the insurance system.

6.2 HEALTH SELECTION AS AN EXPLANATION FOR DIFFERENCES IN SICKNESS ABSENCE BETWEEN WORKPLACES

Physical and psychosocial work conditions and managerial leadership have been found to be associated with sickness absence among employees (112-114) and differences in those aspects are used to explain differences in sickness absence between workplaces. The results from study II show that workplaces with high average levels of sick leave are more likely to recruit individuals who were previously on long-term sick leave than workplaces with low average levels of sick leave. As sick leave is a strong predictor for future sick leave (4, 8, 93, 115-117), the results indicate that differences between the average sick leave levels at workplaces can be partly explained by a selection for health in the workplace, which is in line with a study by Virtanen et al. (2008) who failed to explain the differences in sickness absence among four factories of a food industry company using common risk factors such as health, socioeconomic characteristics and working conditions. Those authors proposed differences in practices that develop in local work communities, called "sickness absence habitus" as an explanation (118). One such habitus in local work communities may be different hiring patterns leading to different sickness absence by a healthy hire effect. Such different hiring patterns might be caused by different views among employers on the hiring of individuals with disabilities or a history of long-term sick leave. Employers reporting positive experiences with employees with disabilities were more positive regarding hiring individuals with disabilities (56). Employers that had successfully hired individuals with disabilities were characterized by focusing on the performance results and not on the disability. Such employers were also characterized by focusing on matching capacity with work tasks, a focus on the most important functions and having the required knowledge for supervising a diversified labour force (61).

The different hiring patterns could also be attributed to individuals with poor health who prefer certain types of jobs or workplaces while avoiding others or because of individuals with specialized education and/or experience only within a certain field who are limited to a certain segment of the labour market when looking for jobs. The labour market is segmented and there are mobility barriers between the segments, such as incomplete portability of skills (76). Certain sectors, such as health care, have primarily woman applicants, who have higher levels of sick leave than men, i.e., the recruitment possibilities in such sectors might be limited to a group of individuals who previously had a high number of sick leave absences.

36

6.3 INDIVIDUAL AND WORKPLACE CHARACTERISTICS AS PREDICTORS OF JOB MOBILITY

The results of study III show that workplace characteristics in general seem to be associated with both job change and exit in the same direction. Women working at a small workplace compared to a larger, a male-dominated workplace, or workers working at a workplace with high average education, had an increased likelihood for both outcomes. This finding indicates that those are characteristics that act as push-factors that might make it hard to remain at an individual's present workplace.

Working at a large workplace was found to lower the odds of an individual changing their workplace among the general populations in a Nordic study (38). Individuals employed at large workplaces might have greater opportunities to adapt their work by changing their working hours or tasks (38). In a Canadian study, small workplaces were shown to have fewer opportunities and economic resources to adapt the workplace to disabled employees (119). In that study, firm size was inversely related to the duration of disability, and RTW rates were lower in small workplaces. Injured workers are more likely to find reemployment in other workplaces or remain unemployed (119). Many employers have indicated that it is not financially viable to retain employees who cannot return to their initial work assignments (120).

Women working in male-dominated occupations suffered from distress more frequently and reported higher anxiety levels than men in the same occupation (121, 122), which might explain the greater need for leaving the workplace. Perhaps women in maledominated jobs also have fewer opportunities to adjust their work to accommodate their health.

The finding that working at workplaces with a high average education level increases the likelihood of mobility among people with high a level of sickness absence is somewhat puzzling. One possible explanation is that employees with a high education level often have opportunities to adjust their work to accommodate their health (123). In some cases, illness does not lead to sickness-related absence. Individuals with a high education level and a history of long-term sick leave might thus be a selected group with poor health or different types of health problems in comparison with individuals that have similar levels of sick leave at a workplace with lower average education.

Whether mobile individuals change jobs or exit the labour market was associated with individual characteristics in study III. Being young or middle aged, having no sickness absence in the preceding base year, and being more highly educated (women) were characteristics that were associated with job change. An association between young age and job change has previously been found in studies of the general population (38, 91, 92, 124). The finding that young individuals are more likely to change jobs might result because young individuals are working their way upwards in their career progression and are driven by pull factors to change to a new job. The higher probability of job change among younger individuals than older individuals might also be due to a decreased willingness among employers to employ older workers and also because older individuals might be more resistant to change.

The increased likelihood for job change among individuals who previously changed jobs may be related to that many of them might have been in temporary employment. A lack of sick leave before the base year was associated with an increased likelihood for job change. This finding might be attributed to individuals with comparably better health than individuals who were on sick leave two years in a row and thereby had better opportunities to find new employment.

Exit from the labour market, in contrast to job change, was associated with characteristics disconnected from working life, such as previously having been on sick leave, previous unemployment or having been on full-time rather than part-time sick leave, along with individual characteristics, such as an older age, lower level of education, and being of non-native origin. These are characteristics that have been found in previous studies to predict whether an individual would leave working life (4, 8, 18, 19, 22, 67, 93, 96, 115-117, 125-130).

6.4 WORK CONDITIONS AS PREDICTORS OF JOB MOBILITY

The results of study IV showed that temporary employment increased the likelihood for both labour market exit and job change among individuals with reduced work ability, which accords with results from a study on a Swedish sample (38).

One explanation for the association between temporary employment and both job change and exit might be that temporary workers are overrepresented in smaller firms, in hazardous occupations with inferior working conditions and often with poor or little compliance with employment regulations. Temporary work agencies might also have limited options or no system for providing modified work or accommodations after injuries, and complex employment relationships might create uncertainty regarding liability for injury and RTW (119, 131).

Another contributing factor might be that being in temporary employment lowers the perceived value of the job and thereby increases the tendency to change jobs as well as leave the labour market (110, 111). As previously described, the turnover model indicates that an employee can be expected to change jobs when the value of a new job exceeds the value of the old job as well as the expected utility from exiting the labour market (51). A few studies (132, 133) report that workers seek temporary work to maximize flexibility and to obtain opportunities to develop new skills and experience. These positive aspects have been experienced by higher qualified employees who voluntarily chose temporary employment. However, leaving a job might not be a choice for those employees with limited work ability and temporary employment. Job insecurity increases the odds ratio for job loss during sick leave (134). The possibilities for the temporarily employed to return to work at their last employer is limited, as they have no permanent workplace to return to. Vocational rehabilitation may not be well organized, as there is often little or no economic support for such employees. Temporarily employed workers have been found to face a high risk of being replaced when reporting injuries (135).

Furthermore, employment insecurity might have contributed to further reductions in health over the follow-up period, thereby increasing the likelihood of exit. It is also possible that individuals with temporary employment had worse health to begin with compared to individuals with permanent employment. In previous studies, temporary employment has been found to predict poor health (108, 109), but individuals with poor health are more likely to be selected for temporary employment (136).

One reason for why the association between low job control and exit was found only among women in study IV might be that the labour market is gender segregated and the prevalence of men and women is different in different types of work. Women are more often employed within health care (40). The combination of poor health and experiencing low control might make it more difficult to remain in this type of work with high levels of human contact than in workplaces in which men are more commonly employed. The results are partly in

contrast to previous studies (22, 99, 137-139) that found an association between low job control and exit among both sexes. An explanation might be that different populations were studied. Previous studies included older individuals (22, 137, 140), those in physically demanding occupations (138) or only public employees (99). In the present study, individuals with a reduced work ability in the base year were examined.

The results of study IV give some support for HWE, as poor working conditions in the form of job insecurity and low control (women) influence individuals with reduced work ability to become mobile. One reason that other work conditions did not predict mobility in the present study might be the responsibilities placed on employers to adapt work and thereby decrease the need to leave the job for employees. Another explanation for the lack of association between work conditions and job change might be that many individuals with reduced work ability choose to remain at their present job because of loyalty to their employer or because of the costs of leaving (in the form of lost employment security) are perceived as too high, which is in accordance with the organizational commitment theory suggested by Allen and Mayer (53). According to the Employment Protection Law, individuals who are most recently recruited are the first to be fired during layoffs (141). Thus, changing jobs might mean losing the perceived security of several years of employment with the same employer.

The lack of association between work conditions and job change might also be due to that individuals with poor working conditions often perceive themselves as unable to obtain another job, a state described as being "locked in" (78).

6.5 METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS

6.5.1 Strengths

In studies I-III, register data were used. Sweden has a very comprehensive and welldeveloped register system, making it possible to follow the population over time and to make adjustments for a vast amount of factors. Official registers are produced through administrative processes, and the data are typically of good quality and have good coverage. In Study IV, the data was collected from The Stockholm Public Health Cohort 2006 with follow-up in 2010. The response rate was relatively high compared with similar studies (response rate 61.3%, follow-up response rate 77.7%) (102). All studies in this dissertation used a longitudinal design.

6.5.2 Limitations

Some of the challenges with research on large databases are missing data, data accuracy and the validity and statistical effects of large samples. Some of the predictors and confounders at the workplace level, such as average age and education level, were created by aggregating the individual data; this eventually increases the effects of missing data. Missing cases are another factor that might impact the results. However, when database participation is connected to reimbursement, such as health insurance in this case, the number of missing cases is reduced (142).

As information about health and employment status were lacking in studies I and III, previous sick leave was used as a proxy for health, and previous history of job change was used as a proxy of employment status. The foundation for the choice of using previous job change as a proxy for employment status is that job change is more common among those with temporary rather than long-term employment contracts. As expected, previous job change showed the same pattern that would be expected with temporary employment contracts, i.e., an increased likelihood for both job change and exit. However, a previous job change will likely misclassify individuals on temporary employment by including those with stable employment contracts who had previously changed jobs. The measure of previous job change may also misclassify individuals on temporary job contracts by not including temporary employees with contracts lasting for more than two years. However, these misclassifications would mean that the association found between temporary employment and job mobility in study III would be even higher (as opposed to lower).

In studies I and III, we lacked information regarding health. We therefore used previous sick leave as a proxy for health. Among those individuals without previous sick leave, there might have been a share of individuals who were at work despite having health problems. These individuals would have been misclassified and are thereby diluting the association between previous sick leave and exit found in study III.

In studies I-III, we did not have access to information on diagnoses. In some studies, the likelihood of returning to work after sickness absence has been found to vary depending on the type of diagnosis (4, 89, 143), whereas others have not found this association (67). It is possible that the individual characteristics associated with a job change and labour market exit varies depending on the diagnosis. This variable might be included in future studies.

A potential problem in studies I-III is that a large sample size may mean small effects that may turn out to be statistically significant although they are not practically relevant. However, the descriptive data shows differences among the distributions. For example, among women with a history of long-term sick leave, 34.9% of those that changed jobs were later not employed compared with 42.6% of those who stayed in the same job. Comparable figures were observed for men (35.5% vs. 45.0%, with 1994 as the base year).

The definition of job change in studies I-III is changing from one workplace to another, which may involve moving to a similar job or to a different job and might be perceived as changing to a more or less preferable job. Disabled workers are more likely to experience involuntary job changes than nondisabled workers (43). The positive effects of job change on health have been found to be affected by the characteristics of the change, such as whether the change was desirable (or not) (144). In this thesis, information was not available on the characteristics of job changes and motives. It is possible that the associations between the individual and workplace characteristics and job change, and also the association between job change and prolonged labour market participation might be affected by the cause of the change, an aspect that should be included in future studies.

In study IV, information regarding job change was collected by questioning whether the subjects had the same job and employment conditions today as in 2006. This question contains two questions in one, and the respondents can only answer yes or no. Not having the same job might imply a change in employer, workplace and/or work tasks (fig. 1), and it is not possible to distinguish between these kinds of changes in this study. If they are on the same job but have changed from temporary to permanent employment, it is difficult to know whether they have answered the question as yes or no. However, it is likely that the question has captured a general sense regarding whether a change has occurred.

In study IV, only individuals from Stockholm County were included in the sample. In comparison to more rural areas, Stockholm County has more available jobs but also more applicants for each job. It is possible that the importance of work conditions for job change and exit among individuals with limited work ability are affected by the supply of available jobs in the region.

During the time period investigated in these studies, there was little impetus for job change among individuals on long-term sick leave in the insurance system. Strong incentives for

42

mobility were introduced into the insurance system in 2008, and we do not know whether the mobility patterns were the same after this time period.

6.6 FUTURE STUDIES

There are many assumptions about this subject, including beliefs that individuals listed as sick do not change jobs and that long-time sick leave is reduced by regulations in the insurance system forcing job change. The dearth of studies actually investigating this subject is striking. Hopefully, the present studies have shed a glimpse of light on this subject. Nonetheless, there are many aspects of this subject that remain to be explored. One of these is the role of motivation and voluntarism. Does job change have positive effects on the future labour market participation, even when the initiative comes from outside the individual? If so, how might job changes be facilitated among individuals with experience of long-term sick leave or reduced work ability? Another important topic to study involves the characteristics of the change. Job changes can be in an upward, horizontal or downward direction. Individuals in this group with poor health are more likely to experience downward changes than healthy individuals, and it is unclear how that might affect the outcome of these changes? Another interesting line of research to follow is to examine more closely those workplaces that recruit individuals with a history of long-term sick leave. We know from study II that such employees have a higher number of days on sick leave, but little is known about other characteristics of such workplaces. The outflow of individuals with a history of long-term sick leave from different workplaces is another important topic for future studies.

6.7 CONCLUSIONS

The knowledge regarding mobility on the labour market among individuals with reduced work ability or experience of long-term sick leave is sparse. In this thesis, it is shown that job change might be a way for members of this group to remain on the labour market. However, our results indicate that those who change jobs among those with experience of long-term sick leave are likely to be hired at workplaces with high average sick leave. The positive effects that are found herein that are related to job change thus may not be lasting.

Poor work conditions, as measured in this thesis, do not seem to be a strong predictor of job change in this group notwithstanding that the need for change should increase with poor work conditions among individuals with limited work abilities. That those with high sickness absence who change jobs seem to end up in workplaces with high levels of average sick leave may indicate that there is a form of a "locked-in effect". Being locked in typically refers to being in an unwanted job with no perceived possibility of changing jobs. An extension of the concept that is indicated by our study might be the existence of a locked-in effect within segments of the labour market. If segmentation of the labour market prevents individuals with experience of long-term sick leave or with reduced work ability from changing to better matching jobs in which the work conditions or work tasks differ from the previous job, it is likely to limit job change as a means of prolonging labour market participation among individuals with a history of long-term sick leave or limited work ability.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

These studies were conducted at the Institute of Environmental Medicine at Karolinska Institutet, as well as at the National Centre for Work and Rehabilitation, Department of Medical and Health sciences, Linköping University, and were funded by AFA Insurance.

I would like to thank all those who have supported me during this interesting and challenging journey.

My supervisors Gun Johansson, Kerstin Ekberg and Tomas Hemmingsson for giving me this opportunity and for sharing their time and knowledge.

Staffan Marklund, Malin Josephson, Magnus Sverke and Margaretha Voss for valuable comments at my part-time seminars.

Karl Wallin for statistical advice.

David Speeckaert for English proofreading.

Ida Seing, for being a good roommate at RAR and my first friend in Linköping.

Anna-Carin Fagerlind-Ståhl, for taking "fika" with me, despite that fika is not her thing, and for sharing the experience of tutoring students in base groups.

Cathrine Reineholm, for sharing her experience and practical advice on PhD student stuff.

Ulrika Englund, for being a very good friend and for generously introducing me to a lot of other good friends.

All my other good friends for being there for me.

My mum, for supporting me and for lending me her apartment in Stockholm. My big brother Mats, for showing me early on that PhD studies were an option. My sister Lisa, my brotherin-law Emil, and Ebba and Ludvig, for being the main reason that Linköping was on my radar when looking for jobs. I will always remember when I moved there and started my PhD studies, as it was the same week in November that Ebba was born.

REFERENCES

 Swedish Social Insurance Agency. Social insurance in figures. Stockholm: 2015.
 Gustafsson K, Marklund S. Consequences of sickness presence and sickness absence on health and work ability: a Swedish prospective cohort study. International journal of occupational medicine and environmental health. 2011;24(2):153-65.

3. Andrén D. Work, sickness, earnings, and early exits from the labor market : an empirical analysis using Swedish longitudinal data [doctoral]. Göteborg: Göteborgs universitet; 2001.

4. von Celsing AS, Svardsudd K, Eriksson HG, Bjorkegren K, Eriksson M, Wallman T. Determinants for return to work among sickness certified patients in general practice. BMC Public Health. 2012;12.

5. Staland Nyman C, Andersson L, Spak F, Hensing G. Exploring consequences of sickness absence - a longitudinal study on changes in self-rated physical health. Work. 2009;34(3):315-24.

6. Hultin H, Lindholm C, Moller J. Is There an Association between Long-Term Sick Leave and Disability Pension and Unemployment beyond the Effect of Health Status? - A Cohort Study. Plos One. 2012;7(4).

7. Biering-Sørensen F, Lund J, Høydalsmo OJ, Darre EM, Deis A, Kryger P, et al. Risk indicators of disability pension: A 15 year follow-up study. Danish Medical Bulletin. 1999;46(3):258-62.

8. Borg K, Hensing G, Alexanderson K. Predictive factors for disability pension - An 11year follow up of young persons on sick leave due to neck, shoulder, or back diagnoses. Scandinavian journal of public health. 2001;29(2):104-12.

9. Kivimäki M, Forma P, Wikström J, Halmeenmäki T, Pentii J, Elovainio M, et al. Sickness absence as a risk marker of future disability pension: The 10-town study. Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health. 2004;58(8):710-1.

10. van Rijn RM, Robroek SJ, Brouwer S, Burdorf A. Influence of poor health on exit from paid employment: a systematic review. Occup Environ Med. 2014;71(4):295-301.

11. Nilsson S, Ekberg K. Employability and work ability: returning to the labour market after long-term absence. Work. 2013;44(4):449-57.

12. Ahlgren A, Bergroth A, Ekholm J, Schuldt K. Work resumption after vocational rehabilitation: a follow-up two years after completed rehabilitation. Work. 2007;28(4):343-54.

13. Koopmans PC, Bultmann U, Roelen CAM, Hoedeman R, van der Klink JJL, Groothoff JW. Recurrence of sickness absence due to common mental disorders. Int Arch Occ Env Hea. 2011;84(2):193-201.

14. Johansson P, Aydin E, Bergendorff S, Granqvist N, Josephson M, Sohlberg I. Arbetslivsinriktad rehabilitering (Work and rehabilitation). 2011.

15. Förordning (2000:628) om den arbetsmarknadspolitiska verksamheten (Regulation about labour market policy activities). 2000.

16. Socialförsäkringsbalken 2010:110 (SFB), 30-31 kap. 2010

17. Johansson G, Lundberg O, Lundberg I. Return to work and adjustment latitude among employees on long-term sickness absence. Journal of occupational rehabilitation. 2006;16(2):185-95.

18. Krause N, Dasinger LK, Deegan LJ, Rudolph L, Brand RJ. Psychosocial job factors and return-to-work after compensated low back injury: a disability phase-specific analysis. American journal of industrial medicine. 2001;40(4):374-92.

19. van der Giezen AM, Bouter LM, Nijhuis FJ. Prediction of return-to-work of low back pain patients sicklisted for 3-4 months. Pain. 2000;87(3):285-94.

20. Cheadle A, Franklin G, Wolfhagen C, Savarino J, Liu PY, Salley C, et al. Factors influencing the duration of work-related disability: a population-based study of Washington State workers' compensation. American journal of public health. 1994;84(2):190-6.

21. Straaton KV, Maisiak R, Wrigley JM, Fine PR. Musculoskeletal disability, employment, and rehabilitation. J Rheumatol. 1995;22(3):505-13.

22. Krause N, Lynch J, Kaplan GA, Cohen RD, Goldberg DE, Salonen JT. Predictors of disability retirement. Scandinavian journal of work, environment & health. 1997;23(6):403-13.

23. Dasinger LK, Krause N, Deegan LJ, Brand RJ, Rudolph L. Physical workplace factors and return to work after compensated low back injury: a disability phase-specific analysis. J Occup Environ Med. 2000;42(3):323-33.

24. Black DCF, D. Health at work - an independent reviw of sickness absence. 2011.

25. Socialförsäkringsbalken (SFB), 2010:110 27 kap.

26. Ilmarinen JE. Aging workers. Occup Environ Med. 2001;58(8):546-52.

27. Ilmarinen J. Work ability-a comprehensive concept for occupational health research and prevention. Scand J Work Env Hea. 2009;35(1):1-5.

28. Nordenfelt L. On the notion of health as ability. Scand J Occup Ther. 2014;21:48-52.

29. Tengland PA. The concept of work ability. Journal of occupational rehabilitation. 2011;21(2):275-85.

30. Lederer V, Loisel P, Rivard M, Champagne F. Exploring the diversity of conceptualizations of work (dis)ability: a scoping review of published definitions. Journal of occupational rehabilitation. 2014;24(2):242-67.

31. Edebalk PG. Sjukförsäkring och sjuklön (Sick leave insurance and sick pay) Om statliga beslut och arbetsmarknadens organisationer 1955-1992. Historisk tidskrift. 2007;127:1.

32. SFS 2010:418. Lag om ändring i lagen (1962:381) om allmän försäkring.

33. Diskrimineringslag (2008:567) 1 kap. 2008.

34. Arbetsmiljölag (1977:1160), 3 kap. 2 a §.

35. Arbetsmarknadsdepartementet. Sänkta trösklar – högt i tak. Arbete, utveckling, trygghet (work, development, security). SOU 2012:31. Stockholm: 2012.

36. SFS 2007:924 Förordning om ändring i förordningen (2000:630) om särskilda insatser för personer med funktionshinder som medför nedsatt arbetsförmåga. 2007.

37. Datta Gupta N, Larsen M, Thomsen L. Do wage subsidies for disabled workers reduce their non-employment? - evidence from the Danish Flexjob scheme. IZA Journal of Labor Policy. 2015;4(1):10.

38. Nordic Council of Ministers. Labour market mobility in Nordic welfare states.Copenhagen: 2010.

39. Karnehed NEK, Rasmussen F, Hemmingsson T, Tynelius P. Obesity in young adulthood is related to social mobility among Swedish men. Obesity. 2008;16(3):654-8.

40. Arbetsmarknadsdepartementet. Den könsuppdelade arbetsmarknaden (The gender segregated labour market). SOU 2004:43. Betänkande av utredningen om den könssegregerade svenska arbetsmarknaden. Stockholm: 2004:43.

41. Andersen T, Haahr JH, Hansen ME, Holm-Pedersen M. Job Mobility in the European Union: Optimising its Social and Economic Benefits. Report prepared under contract to the European Commission, Directorate General for Employment, Social Affairs and Equal Opportunities, Institute DT; 2008.

42. STEP. Mobility of human capital – the Nordic countries. STEP Report 11-2003. Oslo: 2003

43. Schmutte IM. Free to Move? A Network Analytic Approach for Learning the Limits to Job Mobility. Labour Econ. 2014;29(August 2014):49-61.

44. Andersson FW, Andersson J, Poldahl A. Sannolikheten att byta jobb (The likelihood to change jobs). SCB, 2014.

45. Shah D. Healthy worker effect phenomenon. Indian journal of occupational and environmental medicine. 2009;13(2):77-9.

46. Li CY, Sung FC. A review of the healthy worker effect in occupational epidemiology. Occupational medicine. 1999;49(4):225-9.

47. Wagenaar AF, Kompier MAJ, Houtman ILD, van den Bossche SNJ, Taris TW. Employment Contracts and Health Selection Unhealthy Employees Out and Healthy Employees In? J Occup Environ Med. 2012;54(10):1192-200.

48. Lee ES. A theory of Migration. Demography. 1966;3(1):47-57.

49. Ali Shah IEa. Measuring push, pull and personal factors affecting turnover intention: a case of university teachers in Pakistan. Review of Economic and Buisness Studies. 2010;3(1):167-92.

50. Sousa-Poza A, Henneberger F. Analyzing job mobility with job turnover intentions: An international comparative study. J Econ Issues. 2004;38(1):113-37.

51. Anderson PM, Meyer BD. The Extent and Consequences of Job Turnover. Brookings Pap Eco Ac. 1994:177-248.

52. Fields D, Dingman ME, Roman PM, Blum TC. Exploring predictors of alternative job changes. J Occup Organ Psych. 2005;78:63-82.

53. Allen NJ, Meyer JP. Affective, continuance, and normative commitment to the organization: An examination of construct validity. J Vocat Behav. 1996;49(3):252-76.

54. Kondratuk TB, Hausdorf PA, Korabik K, Rosin HM. Linking career mobility with corporate loyalty: How does job change relate to organizational commitment? J Vocat Behav. 2004;65(2):332-49.

55. Hirschman AO. Exit, Voice, and Loyalty: Responses to Decline in Firms, Organizations, and States. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press. 1970.

56. Hernandez B, Keys C. Employer attitudes toward workers with disabilities and their ADA employment rights: A literature review. J Rehabil. 2000;66(4):4-16.

57. Houtenville A, Kalargyrou V. Employers' Perspectives about Employing People with Disabilities: A Comparative Study across Industries. Cornell Hosp Q. 2015;56(2):168-79.

58. Kaye HS, Jans L, Jones E. Why Don't Employers Hire and Retain Workers with Disabilities? Journal of occupational rehabilitation. 2011;21(4):526-36.

59. Houtenville A, Kalargyrou V. People with Disabilities: Employers' Perspectives on Recruitment Practices, Strategies, and Challenges in Leisure and Hospitality. Cornell Hosp Q. 2012;53(1):40-52.

60. Chan F, Strauser D, Maher P, Lee EJ, Jones R, Johnson ET. Demand-Side Factors Related to Employment of People with Disabilities: A Survey of Employers in the Midwest Region of the United States. Journal of occupational rehabilitation. 2010;20(4):412-9.

61. Gilbride D, Stensrud R, Vandergoot D, Golden K. Identification of the characteristics of work environments and employers open to hiring and accommodating people with disabilities. Rehabil Couns Bull. 2003;46(3):130-7.

62. Midtsundstad TI. Inclusive workplaces and older employees: an analysis of companies' investment in retaining senior workers. Int J Hum Resour Man. 2011;22(6):1277-93.
63. Fleischmann M, Koster F, Schippers J. Nothing ventured, nothing gained! How and

under which conditions employers provide employability-enhancing practices to their older workers. Int J Hum Resour Man. 2015;26(22):2908-25.

64. Mansson NO, Rastam L. Self-rated health as a predictor of disability pension and death - A prospective study of middle-aged men. Scandinavian journal of public health. 2001;29(2):151-8.

65. Halford C, Wallman T, Welin L, Rosengren A, Bardel A, Johansson S, et al. Effects of self-rated health on sick leave, disability pension, hospital admissions and mortality. A population-based longitudinal study of nearly 15,000 observations among Swedish women and men. BMC public health. 2012;12.

66. Karpansalo M, Manninen P, Kauhanen J, Lakka TA, Salonen JT. Perceived health as a predictor of early retirement. Scand J Work Env Hea. 2004;30(4):287-92.

67. Pattani S, Constantinovici N, Williams S. Predictors of re-employment and quality of life in NHS staff one year after early retirement because of ill health; a national prospective study. Occup Environ Med. 2004;61(7):572-6.

68. Edwards JR, Caplan RD, Harrison RV. Person-environment fit theory: Conceptual foundations, empirical evidence, and directions for future research. In: Cooper CL, editor. Theories of organizational stress. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 1998. p. 28-67.

69. de Croon EM, Sluiter JK, Blonk RWB, Broersen JPJ, Frings-Dresen MHW. Stressful work, psychological job strain, and turnover: A 2-year prospective cohort study of truck drivers. Journal of Applied Psychology. 2004;89(3):442-54.

70. Swaen GM, Kant IJ, van Amelsvoort LG, Beurskens AJ. Job mobility, its determinants, and its effects: longitudinal data from the Maastricht Cohort Study. Journal of occupational health psychology. 2002;7(2):121-9.

71. Wilkinson L, Shippee T, Ferraro K. Does Occupational Mobility Influence Health among Working Women? Comparing Objective and Subjective Measures of Work Trajectories. J Health Soc Behav. 2012;vol. 53(no. 4):432-47.

72. Kalleberg AL, Mastekaasa A. Satisfied movers, committed stayers - The impact of job mobility on work attitudes in Norway. Work Occupation. 2001;28(2):183-209.

West MA, Nicholso N. The outcomes of job change. J Vocat Behav. 1989;34(3):335-49.

74. Ali M, Schur L, Blanck P. What Types of Jobs Do People with Disabilities Want? Journal of occupational rehabilitation. 2011;21(2):199-210.

75. SCB. The labour market situation for people with disabilities 2014. Statistics Sweden, 2015.

76. Ryan P. Segmentation, duality and the internal labour market. In: Wilkinson F, editor. The Dynamics of Labour Market Segmentation. London: Academic Press.; 1984.

77. Kaye HS. Stuck at the Bottom Rung: Occupational Characteristics of Workers with Disabilities. Journal of occupational rehabilitation. 2009;19(2):115-28.

78. Aronsson G, Goransson S. Permanent employment but not in a preferred occupation: psychological and medical aspects, research implications. Journal of occupational health psychology. 1999;4(2):152-63.

79. Parrado E, Caner A, EN. W. Occupational and industrial mobility in the United States. Labour Econ.2007;14(3):435-55.

80. Shniper L. Occupational mobility. Mon Labor Rev.2005;128(12):30-5.

81. Akresh IR. Occupational mobility among legal immigrants to the United States. Int Migr Rev. 2006;40(4):854-84.

82. Simon H, Ramos R, Sanroma E. Immigrant Occupational Mobility: Longitudinal Evidence from Spain. Eur J Popul. 2014;30(2):223-55.

83. SCB. The importance of the family for the mobility on the labour market. Demografiska rapporter 2005:3. 2005.

84. Lund T, Borg V. Work environment and self-rated health as predictors of remaining in work 5 years later among Danish employees 35-59 years of age. Experimental aging research. 1999;25(4):429-34.

85. Soderberg M, Harenstam A, Rosengren A, Schioler L, Olin A-C, Lissner L, et al. Psychosocial work environment, job mobility and gender differences in turnover behaviour: a prospective study among the Swedish general population. BMC public health. 2014;14(1):605.

86. de Lange AH, De Witte H, Notelaers G. Should I stay or should I go? Examining longitudinal relations among job resources and work engagement for stayers versus movers. Work Stress. 2008;22(3):201-23.

87. Reineholm C, Gustavsson M, Liljegren M, Ekberg K. The importance of work conditions and health for voluntary job mobility: a two-year follow-up. BMC public health. 2012;12:682.

88. Pattani S, Constantinovici N, Williams S. Predictors of re-employment and quality of life in NHS staff one year after early retirement because of ill health; a national prospective study. Occup Environ Med. 2004;61(7):572-6.

89. Brown J, Gilmour WH, Macdonald EB. Ill health retirement in Scottish teachers: process, outcomes and re-employment. Int Arch Occup Environ Health. 2006;79(5):433-40.

90. Carlier BE, Schuring M, van Lenthe FJ, Burdorf A. Influence of health on job-search behavior and re-employment: the role of job-search cognitions and coping resources. Journal of occupational rehabilitation. 2014;24(4):670-9.

91. Parrado E, Caner A, Wolff EN. Occupational and industrial mobility in the United States. Labour Economics. 2007;14(3):435-55.

92. Shniper L. Occupational mobility, January 2004. Monthly Labor Review. 2005;128(12):30-5.

93. Gjesdal S, Ringdal PR, Haug K, Maeland JG. Predictors of disability pension in longterm sickness absence: results from a population-based and prospective study in Norway 1994-1999. European journal of public health. 2004;14(4):398-405.

94. Karlsson NE, Carstensen JM, Gjesdal S, Alexanderson KA. Risk factors for disability pension in a population-based cohort of men and women on long-term sick leave in Sweden. European journal of public health. 2008;18(3):224-31.

95. Borg K, Hensing G, Alexanderson K. Predictive factors for disability pension--an 11year follow up of young persons on sick leave due to neck, shoulder, or back diagnoses. Scand J Public Health. 2001;29(2):104-12.

96. Bruusgaard D, Smeby L, Claussen B. Education and disability pension: a stronger association than previously found. Scandinavian journal of public health. 2010;38(7):686-90.

97. Falkstedt D, Backhans M, Lundin A, Allebeck P, Hemmingsson T. Do working conditions explain the increased risks of disability pension among men and women with low education? A follow-up of Swedish cohorts. Scand J Work Env Hea. 2014;40(5):483-92.

98. Christiansen R, Nielsen OH. Working Environment shown to play role in early retirement. European Working Conditions Observatory, Oxford Research, Denmark. 2009.

99. Laine S, Gimeno D, Virtanen M, Oksanen T, Vahtera J, Elovainio M, et al. Job strain as a predictor of disability pension: the Finnish Public Sector Study. Journal of epidemiology and community health. 2009;63(1):24-30.

100. Vahtera J, Laine S, Virtanen M, Oksanen T, Koskinen A, Pentti J, et al. Employee control over working times and risk of cause-specific disability pension: the Finnish Public Sector Study. Occup Environ Med. 2010;67(7):479-85.

101. Houtman IL, Geuskens G. Factors influencing early exit from the labour market. TNO Work & Employment, Nederländerna European Working Conditions Observatory. 2011.

102. Svensson AC, Fredlund P, Laflamme L, Hallqvist J, Alfredsson L, Ekbom A, et al. Cohort Profile: The Stockholm Public Health Cohort. Int J Epidemiol. 2013;42(5):1263-72.

103. EUROSTAT. Methodologies and working papers. NACE Rev. 2 Statistical classification in the European Community. 2008.

104. Ekberg K, Wahlin C, Persson J, Bernfort L, Oberg B. Is Mobility in the Labor Market a Solution to Sustainable Return to Work for Some Sick Listed Persons? Journal of occupational rehabilitation. 2011;21(3):355-65.

105. Black DC, Frost D. Health at work – an independent review of sickness absence in Great Britain. Department for Work and Pensions, 2011.

106. van de Mheen H, Stronks K, Schrijvers CT, Mackenbach JP. The influence of adult ill health on occupational class mobility and mobility out of and into employment in the The Netherlands. Soc Sci Med. 1999;49(4):509-18.

107. Cardano M, Costa G, Demaria M. Social mobility and health in the Turin longitudinal study. Soc Sci Med. 2004;58(8):1563-74.

108. Waenerlund AK, Gustafsson PE, Hammarstrom A, Virtanen P. History of labour market attachment as a determinant of health status: a 12-year follow-up of the Northern Swedish Cohort. BMJ open. 2014;4(2):e004053.

109. Waenerlund AK, Virtanen P, Hammarstrom A. Is temporary employment related to health status? Analysis of the Northern Swedish Cohort. Scandinavian journal of public health. 2011;39(5):533-9.

110. Sandmark H. Health, sleep, and professional career in female white-collar workers back to work after long-term sick-listing due to minor mental disorders. Scandinavian journal of public health. 2011;39(8):823-9.

111. Kirschenbaum A, Weisberg J. Employee's turnover intentions and job destination choices. Journal of Organizational Behavior. 2002;23(1):109-25.

112. Andersen LL, Clausen T, Persson R, Holtermann A. Dose-response relation between perceived physical exertion during healthcare work and risk of long-term sickness absence. Scand J Work Env Hea. 2012;38(6):582-9.

113. Slany C, Schutte S, Chastang JF, Parent-Thirion A, Vermeylen G, Niedhammer I. Psychosocial work factors and long sickness absence in Europe. Int J Occup Env Heal. 2014;20(1):16-25.

114. Nyberg A, Westerlund H, Hanson LLM, Theorell T. Managerial leadership is associated with self-reported sickness absence and sickness presenteeism among Swedish men and women. Scandinavian journal of public health. 2008;36(8):803-11.

115. Wallman T, Wedel H, Palmer E, Rosengren A, Johansson S, Eriksson H, et al. Sickleave track record and other potential predictors of a disability pension. A population based study of 8,218 men and women followed for 16 years. BMC Public Health. 2009;9:104.

116. Lund T, Kivimaki M, Labriola M, Villadsen E, Christensen KB. Using administrative sickness absence data as a marker of future disability pension: the prospective DREAM study of Danish private sector employees. Occupational and Environmental Medicine. 2008;65(1):28-31.

117. Roelen CA, Koopmans PC, Schreuder JA, Anema JR, van der Beek AJ. The history of registered sickness absence predicts future sickness absence. Occup Med (Lond). 2011;61(2):96-101.

118. Virtanen P, Siukola A, Luukkaala T, Savinainen M, Arola H, Nygard CH, et al. Sick leaves in four factories-do characteristics of employees and work conditions explain differences in sickness absence between workplaces? Scand J Work Env Hea. 2008;34(4):260-6.

119. Eakin J, MacEachen E, Clarke J. 'Playing it smart' with return to work: small workplace experience under Ontario's policy of self-reliance and early return. Policy and Practice in Health and Safety 2003;1(2):19-41.

120. ISF. Arbetsgivare i små företag. En intervjustudie om deras erfarenheter av sjukskrivningsprocessen (Employers in small companies. An interview study of their experiences of the sick leave process) 2012:09. Inspektionen för socialförsäkringen.

121. Evans O, Steptoe A. The contribution of gender-role orientation, work factors and home stressors to psychological well-being and sickness absence in male- and female-dominated occupational groups. Soc Sci Med. 2002;54(4):481-92.

122. Hunt K, Emslie C. Men's work, women's work? Occupational sex roles and

health. K. Orth-Gomer MC, & N.K. Wenger, editor1998.

 Johansson G, Lundberg I. Components of the Illness Flexibility Model as
 Explanations of Socioeconomic Differences in Sickness Absence. Int J Health Serv. 2009;39(1):123-38.

124. Kambourov G, Manovskii I. Occupational Mobility and Wage Inequality. Review of Economic Studies. 2009;76(2):731-59.

125. Stoltenberg CD, Skov PG. Determinants of return to work after long-term sickness absence in six Danish municipalities. Scand J Public Health. 2010;38(3):299-308.

126. MacKenzie EJ, Morris JA, Jr., Jurkovich GJ, Yasui Y, Cushing BM, Burgess AR, et al. Return to work following injury: the role of economic, social, and job-related factors. Am J Public Health. 1998;88(11):1630-7.

127. Leinonen T, Martikainen P, Lahelma E. Interrelationships between education, occupational social class, and income as determinants of disability retirement. Scand J Public Health. 2012;40(2):157-66.

128. Nilsen SM, Ernstsen L, Krokstad S, Westin S. Educational inequalities in disability pensioning - the impact of illness and occupational, psychosocial, and behavioural factors: The Nord-Trondelag Health Study (HUNT). Scandinavian journal of public health. 2012;40(2):133-41.

129. Hogelund J, Holm A, McIntosh J. Does graded return-to-work improve sick-listed workers' chance of returning to regular working hours? J Health Econ. 2010;29(1):158-69.

130. Kausto J, Virta L, Luukkonen R, Viikari-Juntura E. Associations between partial sickness benefit and disability pensions: initial findings of a Finnish nationwide register study. BMC Public Health. 2010;10:1-11.

131. Underhill E, Quinlan M. How Precarious Employment Affects Health and Safety at Work: The Case of Temporary Agency Workers. Relat Ind-Ind Relat. 2011;66(3):397-421.

132. Bosmans K, Hardonk S, De Cuyper N, Vanroelen C. Explaining the relation between precarious employment and mental well-being. A qualitative study among temporary agency workers. Work. 2015.

133. Guest D, Clinton M. Temporary Employment Contracts, Workers' Well Being and Behaviour: Evidence from the UK. King's College, London, Department of Management Working Paper No 38. 2006.

134. Flach PA, Groothoff JW, Bultmann U. Identifying employees at risk for job loss during sick leave. Disabil Rehabil. 2013;35(21):1835-41.

135. Vermeulen SJ, Tamminga SJ, Schellart AJM, Ybema JF, Anema JR. Return-to-work of sick-listed workers without an employment contract - what works? BMC public health. 2009;9.

136. Dawson C, Veliziotis M, Pacheco G, Webber DJ. Is temporary employment a cause or consequence of poor mental health? A panel data analysis. Social Science and Medicine. 2015;134:50-8.

137. van den Berg T, Schuring M, Avendano M, Mackenbach J, Burdorf A. The impact of ill health on exit from paid employment in Europe among older workers. Occup Environ Med. 2010;67(12):845-52.

138. Lund T, Iversen L, Poulsen KB. Work environment factors, health, lifestyle and marital status as predictors of job change and early retirement in physically heavy occupations. American Journal of Industrial Medicine. 2001;40(2):161-9.

139. Robroek SJ, Schuring M, Croezen S, Stattin M, Burdorf A. Poor health, unhealthy behaviors, and unfavorable work characteristics influence pathways of exit from paid employment among older workers in Europe: a four year follow-up study. Scandinavian journal of work, environment & health. 2013;39(2):125-33.

140. Robroek SJW, Schuring M, Croezen S, Stattin M, Burdorf A. Poor health, unhealthy behaviors, and unfavorable work characteristics influence pathways of exit from paid employment among older workers in Europe: a four year follow-up study. Scand J Work Env Hea. 2013;39(2):125-33.

141. Lag (1982:80) om anställningsskydd. 1982.

McClish D, Penberthy L. Using medicare data to estimate the number of cases
missed by a cancer registry - A 3-source capture-recapture model. Medical care. 2004;42(11):11116.

143. Claussen B. Health and re-employment in a five-year follow-up of long-term unemployed. Scand J Public Health. 1999;27(2):94-100.

144. Forskningsrådet för arbetsliv och socialvetenskap (FAS). Ett rörligt arbetsliv (A changing working life). Stockholm: 2003.